# Use Authorization

In presenting this thesis in partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree at Idaho State University, I agree that the Library shall make it freely available for inspection. I further state that permission to download and/or print my thesis for scholarly purposes may be granted by the Dean of the Graduate School, Dean of my academic division, or by the University Librarian. It is understood that any copying or publication of this thesis for financial gain shall not be allowed without my written permission.

Signature \_\_\_\_\_

Date \_\_\_\_\_

# Meta-Prospective Memory Accuracy in Healthy Older Adults Compared to Older Adults with Suspected Mild Cognitive Impairment (sMCI)

by

Becca N. Huber

A dissertation

submitted in partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy in the Department of Psychology

Idaho State University

Summer 2022

Copyright (2022) Becca N. Huber

# Committee Approval

To the Graduate Faculty:

The members of the committee appointed to examine the dissertation of BECCA N. HUBER find it satisfactory and recommend that it be accepted.

Dr. Erika K. Fulton, Major Advisor

Dr. Xiaomeng Xu, Committee Member

Dr. Samuel Peer, Committee Member

Dr. Robert Rieske, Committee Member

Dr. Kellee Kirkpatrick, Graduate Faculty Representative

List of Figures vii
List of Tables viii
List of Abbreviations ix
Abstractx
Chapter One: Prospective Memory 1
Prospective Memory in Older Adults
Metacognition's Role in Prospective Memory
Prospective Memory & Executive Function
Aims of the Current Study 13
Primary Hypotheses
Chapter Two: Method 17
Participants17
Materials
Mini Mental State Examination 20
Prospective and Retrospective Memory Questionnaire
Prospective and Retrospective Memory Questionnaire Proxy 21
Royal Prince Alfred Prospective Memory Test
Wisconsin Card Sorting Test
Stroop Color-Word Test
Trail Making Task Parts A & B 23
COVID-19 Personal Protective Equipment
Procedure

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Data Analytic Plan	26		
Chapter Three: Results				
	Self-Reported and Objective Prospective Memory	. 28		
	Generalized and Task-Specific Meta-Prospective Memory Accuracy	. 29		
	Executive Function Group Differences	32		
	The Role of Executive Function in Task-Specific Accuracy	33		
	Covariates for a Complex Population	34		
	Heterogeneity in Hospital- Versus Community-Recruited sMCI	35		
	Informant-Reported Prospective Memory	. 36		
Chapte	er Four: Discussion	. 37		
	A Replication and Extension	. 38		
	The Nuance of Task-Specific Meta-Prospective Memory	41		
	The Role of Executive Function	. 43		
	Neuropsychological Utility of PM & Meta-PM	45		
	Limitations & Future Directions	51		
Refere	nces	55		
Appen	dices	71		
A.	Nelson and Narens' (1990) Model of Metacognition	71		
B.	Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE)	72		
C.	Prospective and Retrospective Memory Questionnaire (PRMQ)	73		
D.	Prospective and Retrospective Memory Questionnaire Proxy (PRMQ-Proxy)	75		
E.	Royal Prince Alfred Prospective Memory Test (RPA)	. 77		
F.	Trail Making Test Parts A & B	. 78		

# List of Figures

Figure 1 Model of cognitive monitoring and control proposed by Nelson and Narens ... 71

# List of Tables

Table 1 Participant Demographics	18
Table 2 Group Means and Standard Errors by Measure	29
Table 3 Correlation of Measures for the Full Sample	30
Table 4 Correlation of Measures for the Healthy Group	30
Table 5 Correlation of Measures for the sMCI Group	31
Table 6 Group Means and Standard Errors in Task-Specific Meta-PM Accuracy	31
Table 7 Summary of Hierarchical Regression Analysis for Group Status and Executive	
Function Measures Predicting Task-Specific Meta-PM Accuracy	34

# List of Abbreviations

DSM	Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders
EF	Executive Function
GMT	Goal Management Training
iADLs	Instrumental Activities of Daily Living
MCI	Mild Cognitive Impairment
MPM	Multiprocess Model
PAM	Preparatory Attentional and Memory process
PFC	Prefrontal Cortex
PM	Prospective Memory
PPE	Personal Protective Equipment
sMCI	Suspected Mild Cognitive Impairment

#### Abstract

This study examined if the relationship between generalized and task-specific appraisals of one's prospective memory (PM) and actual PM performance (i.e., meta-PM accuracy) differed between healthy and suspected Mild Cognitive Impairment (sMCI) older adults. Older adults recruited included 50 healthy and 31 sMCI participants from the community and an outpatient neuropsychology clinic. Data collected consisted of self-reported appraisals and task-specific predictions/postdictions of PM performance, objective PM performance, and executive functioning (EF). The sMCI group had significantly lower scores on objective PM tasks and EF measures related to simple and complex taskswitching. Moreover, sMCI participants displayed lower task-specific meta-PM accuracy in the direction of overconfidence, but they displayed relatively equivalent generalized meta-PM accuracy when compared to the healthy group. Notably, the sMCI group's taskspecific inaccuracies became non-significant in relation to the healthy group on the final long-term PM tasks after exposure to metacognitive reflection on the first two PM tasks. Despite lower scores on EF measures, EF performance did not explain task-specific meta-PM differences between groups beyond neurocognitive status, utilizing hierarchical regression. Based on these data, sMCI patients may be better assisted by metacognitive calibration strategies, EF protocols, and the implementation of general compensatory memory strategies as targets for early intervention and prevention of neurocognitive decline.

*Keywords:* prospective memory, metacognition, aging, mild cognitive impairment, executive function

Х

# CHAPTER ONE Prospective Memory

Prospective memory (PM) is a sub-facet of memory that entails having to remember an intention in the future (Harris, 1983; Kvavilashvili, 1992). This cognitive ability is vital to our success in several domains that aid our ability to develop, pursue, and maintain autonomy, including occupational, social, and physical aspects of functioning. For instance, PM is highly implicated in medication adherence, and its working condition impacts our health and can ultimately determine if we live or die. Unfortunately, PM is subject to failure in a number of circumstances, particularly in older adulthood (Rabin et al., 2014). Given the importance of successful PM function, researchers have facilitated our understanding of these processes and highlighted potential areas for intervention. However, the current literature does not address metacognitive considerations for PM intervention among older adults with and without memory decline, or whether executive function (EF) may serve as a mediating mechanism to these processes.

There are four intention phases necessary for successful PM-task completion and the current study prioritized the fourth phase, intention execution. The four intention phases of PM consist of the following: intention formation, intention retention, intention initiation, and intention execution (Ellis & Kvavilashvili, 2000; Martin et al., 2003). The intention formation phase is the moment in which the intention is consciously planned, such that this phase represents the intention-related stimuli exposure (e.g., the doctor says one should take their medications twice daily; Kliegel et al., 2002). The second phase, intention retention, is the period in which the intended task is retained in memory while one goes about other activities in their day (Kliegel et al., 2002). According to Kliegel

and colleagues (2002), the third phase, intention initiation, begins at the initiation of intention execution (e.g., one walks into the bathroom to get their medication). Finally, intention execution, the fourth and final phase of PM task completion, is the actual execution of the intended action based on the original intention plan (e.g., taking the medication; Kliegel et al., 2002). When the four phases are executed, one is thought to have intact PM ability. The current study focused on the final phase of PM, intention execution, as it is the most observable and measurable PM phase; however, understanding of intention phases highlights the complexity of PM as a memory process, and why PM is susceptible to decline in older age.

Successful PM may further be impacted by the type of PM stimuli and the type of environment in which the PM task is to occur. Researchers have distinguished between two categories of stimuli in the intention phases: time-based and event-based stimuli (Einstein et al., 1995; Einstein & McDaniel, 1990). Time-based stimuli require individuals to conduct the intended task at a specific time, such as taking a medication at 5 o'clock. Event-based stimuli rely on the PM task to be coupled with a specific event, such as taking a medication with a meal. Previous research has found that older adults often rely on event-based stimuli, such as close others serving as a reminder, resulting in a lower probability of successful PM execution, with more immediate health-related dangers (Costa et al., 2011). Additionally, some studies have shown that older adults perform more poorly on *laboratory*-based PM tasks but perform better than younger counterparts on *naturalistic*-based PM tasks, suggesting PM initiation and execution may rely on different task-environments (Costa et al., 2011). PM has also been found to be impaired in healthy older adults on time-based tasks, above and beyond that of event-

based tasks (Henry et al., 2004). However, healthy older adults have outperformed younger adults in naturalistic-based PM settings compared to laboratory-based settings (Henry et al., 2004). Therefore, although event-based cues are more unreliable in one's environment, research shows that PM tasks that occur in naturalistic settings and are dependent on event-based stimuli have a better chance of success in execution among the older adult population, though it is unclear if these event-based, naturalistic measures are either an under- or over-estimation of older adults' true PM abilities. Given older adults tend to anchor their PM tasks to events in naturalistic settings, there is more opportunity for failure when those events do not occur or something within the naturalistic setting changes. For example, if an older adult has paired their medication routine with a call from her daughter, and her daughter does not complete the call, it is likely that the medication routine could be taken late or could be forgotten altogether. Thus, group differences in PM performance could depend on the stimuli and context in which it was studied. Given these findings, the current study utilized a measure that captured eventbased, time-based, naturalistic, and laboratory conditions to provide a holistic understanding of PM function when comparing healthy older adults to older adults who exhibit cognitive impairment.

# **Prospective Memory in Older Adults**

Older adults are known to display a greater frequency of PM failure (Rabin et al., 2014), resulting in potentially life-threatening implications, such as inadequate medication adherence, among other social, occupational, and physical difficulties. More specifically, the older adult population is likely to have numerous health diagnoses obtained from a variety of providers (e.g., primary care physicians, cardiologists, etc.),

resulting in an assortment of medications that must work in combination and in isolation to address each diagnosed medical condition (Wooten, 2015). The management of these medications proves difficult, even for cognitively healthy older adults, as the number of older adults admitted to the hospital for inappropriate medication use continues to increase in the United States (Wooten, 2015). Therefore, research regarding PM processes in older adults is essential to informing appropriate management of medications and other potentially dangerous tasks associated with PM failure.

Although current research has contributed to our understanding of PM processes in normal aging, research regarding PM processes in the context of abnormal neurocognitive decline is essential given the likelihood of progressing to a form of cognitive impairment tends to increase with age (Farias et al., 2009). Neurocognitive decline further has been shown to impact several elements of independent activities of daily living (iADLs), given most iADLs require successful PM function (Rabin et al., 2014). Therefore, studies focused on older adults with Mild Cognitive Impairment (MCI) are crucial for understanding PM decline, as this population generally displays intact iADLs yet significant complaints of PM failure. Moreover, an MCI diagnosis often precedes the onset of a full dementia diagnosis (also known as Major Neurocognitive Disorder per DSM-5 criteria; American Psychiatric Association, 2013), and is hallmarked by subjective and objective memory impairment that is abnormal for one's age, without significant impairment in iADLs (Petersen, 2004; Schoenberg & Duff, 2011). Considering the features of this population, researchers have found strong evidence that PM is impaired in older adults with MCI (Costa et al., 2011; Spíndola & Brucki, 2011), and that there is no significant difference in PM functioning between those with MCI and

those with dementia (van den Berg et al., 2012). More specifically, Van Den Berg and colleagues (2012) posited that PM problems may serve as a marker of future decline to a dementia diagnosis. As a result, the current study examined PM failures in those with *suspected* MCI (sMCI) in an effort to provide better indicators of future decline and to facilitate areas for intervention by addressing whether PM failures in older adults are affiliated with metacognitive function, executive function (EF), or simply impaired objective PM performance.

Researchers have also examined PM strategies that older adults with MCI may employ in order to maintain their function and independence. One group found that those with MCI were more likely to rely on close others as a mechanism of PM retrieval, initiation, and execution rather than to rely on external strategies to aid in PM performance, such as writing a reminder note or setting a notification on a device (J. Crawford et al., 2003). As such, this type of reliance on others has the potential to create burden for others and subtracts from the individual's ability to form new mechanisms of PM cues. Additionally, this type of reliance on others may lead these close others to evaluate their loved one's memory abilities more often than one evaluates their own memory abilities, creating a potential for more objective reports, if formally assessed. Multi-informant memory reports have served as a better estimate of memory ability, showing more substantial correlations with formal objective measures of memory compared to self-reports (Hickox et al., 1992; Sunderland et al., 1984). Given these findings, the proposed study assessed informant-reported PM to examine if there are differences in self- versus other-reported difficulties when compared to objective PM functioning. This study objective aided in the understanding of self-perceived versus

other-perceived PM, and provided a guide for intervention and communication about PM problems in older adults with and without memory decline. Previous studies have found that informant-reported impairments of patients' PM abilities are generally more accurate and predictive of future neurocognitive decline, particularly in early Alzheimer's Disease populations, compared to self-reported PM impairments (Hsu et al., 2014). Therefore, the addition of informant reports in this study served as an extension of previous literature by investigating whether informant reports are more accurate in those with less severe neurocognitive decline, such as sMCI.

#### **Metacognition's Role in Prospective Memory**

Not only is successful PM important to maintain autonomous living in older adults, but so is the ability to *accurately* judge one's PM. Metacognition, a term coined by Flavell in 1979, is the awareness and thoughts of one's personal cognitions and includes the ability to monitor and control cognitions (Maki et al., 2009). Nelson and Narens (1990) constructed a model of metacognitive activity that describes two levels of any cognitive task: an object level and a meta-level (see Figure 1). Most cognitive tasks occur at the object level, but when one starts to monitor said task, is when the information from the object level is transitioned to the meta-level. It is at the meta-level that one can make judgments about the task at hand to subsequently regulate behaviors or cognitions at the object level; however, the monitoring of the remembering to turn the oven off (e.g., "I am good at remembering to turn off the oven, so I don't need a reminder") is related to the meta-level of processing. Similarly, metamemory has been a commonly studied aspect of the metacognition literature and aims to explore one's thoughts and

controlled behaviors regarding memory performance. Taken together, appraising one's memory performance is referred to as metamemory monitoring (Nelson & Narens, 1990), which was used in the current study to evaluate differences in meta-PM in older adults.

Metacognitive judgments are crucial to metacognitive monitoring because they affect behaviors exhibited during a specific task, such as a PM task. During PM tasks, metacognitive judgments can determine whether to form an intention, initiate an intention, or execute an intention (Kliegel et al., 2008a). These judgments can be measured through confidence judgments, widely used throughout metamemory research, to assess the level of confidence one feels in their performance on a memory measure (Shimamura, 2008). Regarding PM, one study found that those who performed better on event-based PM tasks believed their PM was under their internal control, as compared to those who performed worse on event-based PM tasks who reported lower beliefs of metacognitive control (McDonald-Miszczak et al., 1999). More generally, Meeks and colleagues (2007) found that individuals have basic awareness of their PM functions but are vastly inaccurate in their predictions of objective PM performance, much like other facets of metacognition (Dunlosky & Lipko, 2007). In their study, their sample was approximately 20% underconfident in their PM abilities, for which the authors suggest could have been an adaptive strategy in an effort to be more accurate in daily PM tasks (Meeks et al., 2007). However, Meeks and group (2007) argued that the accuracy component is likely a large predictor of PM success, because those with accurate perceptions of their PM abilities are more likely to choose appropriate strategies for intention formation, initiation, and execution, whereas those with lower awareness may be more susceptible to PM failure. Therefore, if older adults with and without memory

impairment are able to form accurate representations of their PM ability, they may be more likely to successfully execute a PM task.

#### **Prospective Memory & Executive Function**

A theoretical debate has continued in the literature regarding the cognitive processes underlying the initiation and execution of the intended action in PM. The first well-known theory of PM is the Preparatory Attentional and Memory (PAM) process theory, which posits that PM requires attentional preparatory processes for successful intention formation, retention, initiation, and execution (R. E. Smith, 2003; R. E. Smith et al., 2007; R. E. Smith & Bayen, 2004, 2005, 2006). The PAM theory is rooted in the Morris et al. (1977) assumption of transfer appropriate processing. The assumption is that limited cognitive resources must be partially devoted to an ongoing evaluation of the environment (attentional monitoring) and responses in the environment to recognize a target time or event in which a PM task is to occur (R. E. Smith, 2008). Therefore, preparatory attentional processes and continuous attentional monitoring are thought to be engaged during every component of ongoing activities where the PM task is not at the forefront of importance, and the retrospective memory component (remembering things from the past) is engaged upon PM target detection via preparatory attentional processes (Guynn, 2008). These cognitive processes are part of what is called executive function (EF), which includes but is not limited to working memory, set-shifting (i.e., multitasking), goal setting, problem-solving, organization, cognitive flexibility, inhibition, and attention (Best & Miller, 2010; Meltzer, 2018; Miyake et al., 2000; Miyake & Friedman, 2012). Given that EF represents a global term for multifaceted cognitive processes that underlie goal-driven behaviors, according to PAM theory, PM relies on one's EF ability.

This is because PAM theory posits that one must attend to ongoing tasks in addition to continuously monitoring the environment for the PM cue, utilizing EF mechanisms of attention, response inhibition when a PM cue is salient, and set-shifting to the PM task.

Other authors have suggested an alternative framework of PM that encompasses Smith's (2003) attentional monitoring component, with the addition of the possibility of spontaneous retrieval and automatic processing components (Einstein & McDaniel, 2005; Kliegel et al., 2002; McDaniel et al., 2004). This framework is referred to as the Multiprocess Model (MPM), which posits that PM retrieval may depend on the context in which a PM intention is formed and executed, relying on automatic processes in certain situations and strategic processes in others (Guynn, 2008). For example, in the MPM framework, attentional monitoring has been implicated when the PM task is of high importance, when the PM target is not salient, when the connection of the target event and the PM task has not been established prior to intention formation, and when the focus of attention in the ongoing task does not align with the focus of attention for the PM target (Guynn, 2008). Therefore, EF also plays a large role in the MPM, as attentional monitoring and set-shifting are largely implicated in PM execution and task completion. Thus, the point of theoretical divergence between the Multiprocess Model and the PAM process theory is that PAM requires constant attentional monitoring, utilizing substantial cognitive resources; whereas, the MPM does not require continuous attentional monitoring, as it requires spontaneous retrieval and is dependent on various task factors. Both theories highlight the need for functional attentional components of EF to be successful in PM performance; however, the MPM directly accounts for additional EF mechanisms, such as inhibition and set-shifting, that are not explicitly accounted for by

PAM theory. As such, the current study is in alignment with the MPM and hypothesized that EF aides in the explanation of significant group differences in PM performance, which would further support the MPM as a better theoretical explanation of PM processes, particularly in populations with neurocognitive decline.

The development of EF is necessary for successful completion of tasks involving PM (McDaniel et al., 1999), given that PM is thought to develop alongside frontal lobe functions and EF is largely dependent on the frontal lobe (Kliegel et al., 2008b). Best and Miller (2010) found that EF matures alongside frontal cortex development and is the first area of decline in older adults (Cepeda et al., 2001; De Luca et al., 2003; Zelazo et al., 2004). Additionally, those with MCI display higher bilateral frontal lobe atrophy rates compared with healthy older adults, contributing to the decline of EF in this population (McDonald et al., 2012). Therefore, significant age differences have been apparent in intention formation, intention initiation, and intention execution phases of PM, which generally rely on executive control processes (Kliegel et al., 2002, 2004; Martin et al., 2003). As such, it could be argued that the decline of EF may substantially contribute to a decline of PM performance in older adults with and without neurocognitive decline.

Given that aspects of memory function have been correlated with the decline of EFs in later development (Cepeda et al., 2001), it is critical to examine the role of EF as an indicator for clinical levels of memory and metamemory impairment. Previous research found that both subjective memory reports and objective memory performance have been mediated by EF (Mäntylä et al., 2010), and other authors have discovered that deficits in EF were found several years prior to a clinical diagnosis of Alzheimer's Disease with a large effect (d = 1.07; Bäckman et al., 2005). Therefore, the investigation

of EF's role in declining PM processes in older adulthood provides an important target area for intervention. More specifically, the current study investigated the role of EF in meta-PM accuracy with objective PM performance. Knowledge about whether deficits in EF may relate to one's generalized and task-specific perceptions of PM ability has the potential to inform clinical interventions at the level of objective PM through memory strategies, meta-PM processes through metacognitive calibration/awareness training, or EF through goal management practices.

In addition to general memory decline, EF has also been found to surpass age in the prediction of PM function on more complex tasks (Martin et al., 2003), meaning individuals with impaired EFs are more likely to display difficulty with PM performance. Previous research has suggested that the inhibition and set-shifting components of EF tend to be the most prominent factors in successful PM (Schnitzspahn et al., 2013). Kliegel and colleages (2008b) tested a complex PM task across the developmental lifespan (e.g., testing children, young adults, and older adults) in which the researchers manipulated whether individuals were required to interrupt an ongoing task in an effort to switch attention to the PM task, which relied on the inhibition component of EF. They found a replication of the inverted U-shaped developmental trajectory across groups, with children and older adults displaying the greatest amount of difficulty on intention execution when ongoing tasks were interrupted (Kliegel et al., 2008b), which implies that inhibition may be widely implicated in successful PM function. As such, PM difficulties have been found in individuals with disorders that tend to rely heavily on EF processes near the end of the developmental lifespan (e.g., dementia, mild cognitive impairment, etc.; Schmitter-Edgecombe et al., 2009). Given these findings, the current study proposed

that EF would partially or mostly account for the relationship between groups' meta-PM accuracy differences, above and beyond neurocognitive status alone.

In alignment with study aims, previous researchers have discovered a significant relationship between metacognitive processes and PM, and they have found that EF plays an important role in these processes. As the Nelson and Narens (1990) model implies, metacognitive monitoring maintains a top-down process of information regulation, which is thought to be heavily influenced by EF processes, such as task-switching, attention, and working memory (Shimamura, 2008). As such, Shimamura (2000) proposed the dynamic filtering theory to account for neural mechanisms implicated in Nelson and Narens (1990) framework, such as prefrontal cortex (PFC) involvement with posterior cortical circuits. Therefore, using this theoretical framework, object-level information is dispersed in posterior cortical regions and is then subsequently controlled in PFC regions by meta-level processors. Thus, Shimamura (2000) posited that metacognitive control is implemented by PFC functions via selection and suppression of appropriate and inappropriate signals (i.e., dynamic filtering). As such, dynamic filtering theory then provides evidence that metacognitive control and metacognitive monitoring of PM processes are affected by normal age-related decline and impaired neurocognitive functioning at a circuitry level (i.e., in those with dementia) due to the decline in EF capacity (discussed above), which is controlled by neural networks associated with the PFC and posterior cortical regions (Gilbert & Burgess, 2008). Moreover, Mäntylä and colleagues (2010) found that participants who reported more PM complaints displayed poorer performance on EF measures, suggesting a link between metacognitive processes and EF processes. Furthermore, they found that objective memory performance was

significantly related to EFs (Mäntylä et al., 2010), meaning if there is a link between metacognition and EFs in addition to a relationship between EFs and memory performance, it is likely that EF has the potential to influence both metacognitive processes and successful PM performance, making it a potential target for intervention in older adults.

#### Aims of the Current Study

The purpose of the current study was to investigate if differences exist between healthy older adults and those with sMCI in meta-PM accuracy as measured with both generalized perceptions of PM and task-specific judgments of PM compared with objective PM performances. The current study was a replication and extension of Thompson and colleagues (2015) work, in which the researchers compared older adults with cognitive impairment (MCI and dementia) to older adults who are healthy on selfreport and performance-based PM measures. Thompson and group (2015) also looked at informant-report differences in these populations. They specifically aimed to compare MCI, dementia, and healthy older adults on self- and informant-rated versions of prospective and retrospective memory function, while they further investigated the association between self- and informant-reported symptoms with actual PM performance. Their group collected data on 138 participants between the ages of 64 and 92 and utilized the self- and proxy-versions of the Prospective and Retrospective Memory Questionnaire (PRMQ), the Mini Mental Status Examination (MMSE), and an objective measure of PM, the Virtual Week Test (Thompson et al., 2015). They found that the dementia group performed significantly more poorly on the Virtual Week Task compared to the MCI group and controls, and the MCI group also performed significantly worse on this task

than controls (Thompson et al., 2015). Self- and informant-reports were not significantly different between all three groups, but findings indicated that the correlation between self-reported PM and objective PM performance was not significant for any of the groups, meaning that all groups were inaccurate (Thompson et al., 2015). Results of the study were in opposition to previous findings in which informant reports of PM were more highly correlated with actual performance on neurocognitive measures (Hsu et al., 2014). Given these mixed findings between Thompson 's (2015) group and Hsu's (2014) group, the hypotheses for the current study align more with that of Hsu's (2014) research. Moreover, task-specific accuracy discrepancies using predictions and post-dictions between self-reported PM and laboratory PM tasks have not been studied in the sMCI population, which is how the current study extended Thompson and colleagues' (2015) work. Additional work incorporating the role of EF in metamemory reported that those with EF impairment, such as those with neurocognitive disorders, display worse metamemory accuracy compared to those without EF impairment (Souchay et al., 2003). However, the investigation of the role of EF in generalized and task-specific meta-PM function in the older adult population has yet to be uncovered. This research is essential, because it allows a better understanding regarding PM (e.g., if the failures occur at the meta-level, object-level, or due to EF), which better facilitates individualized targets for intervention, improving functional living for older adults with and without neurocognitive impairment.

Understanding older adults' beliefs about their PM performance, and the accuracy of these thoughts, would provide insight into the areas that could be targeted for individualized treatment. Specifically, if differences exist between generalized meta-PM

and objective PM performance and/or task-specific meta-PM and objective PM performance, clinicians would be able to target metacognitive means of calibration to increase overall meta-PM accuracy. If individuals are fairly accurate in their generalized thoughts and predictions regarding their PM performance, then objective PM behaviors could be the potential targets for effective treatment, rather than PM-related cognitions. Additionally, individuals must be able to provide an accurate assessment of their functioning before the regulation of behavior can occur in treatment; thus, understanding the ways in which older adults with sMCI view their generalized PM performance compared with actual PM performance, informant reports, and immediate pre- and postdictions provides a comprehensive synopsis of the metacognitive accuracy associated with PM. The measurement of predictions and postdictions in PM is necessary for a number of metacognitive regulation reasons. Specifically, predictions provide a measurement of one's confidence in their ability to complete a PM task, and this will affect regulation of behavior (i.e., deciding whether or not to set reminders or use reliable cues; Meier et al., 2011). PM postdictions, which occur after having experience with PM task stimuli, are based on more information, which helps individuals update whether they need to implement changes to behavior to successfully accomplish PM tasks in the future (Correa et al., 1996). Therefore, measuring both predictions and postdictions in this study provides two measures of task-specific beliefs. Altogether, the set of measures employed in the current study provides researchers an opportunity to derive whether or not there are areas for intervention at a task-specific level, requiring behavioral modification to ensure successful PM task completion.

### **Primary Hypotheses**

*Hypothesis 1 (H*<sub>1</sub>): The sMCI group would have significantly lower meta-PM accuracy than healthy older adults.

H1a: Self-reports of PM complaints in the sMCI group would be significantly higher than the healthy older adult group, given the literature surrounding perceived self-efficacy in aging memory populations which posits low memory self-efficacy with onset and awareness of memory deficits (West et al., 2008).
H1b: Objective PM task performance in the sMCI group would be significantly lower than the objective PM task performance in the healthy older adults, as previously seen in the literature (Costa et al., 2010).

**H1c:** Generalized meta-PM will be more accurate for the healthy group compared to the sMCI group, due to the sMCI group displaying more subjective PM complaints (West et al., 2008) and worse objective task-performance in the sMCI group (Costa et al., 2010). Although the sMCI group would display worse objective task-performance compared to the healthy group, the sMCI group's generalized PM beliefs would be significantly underconfident compared to their performance, making them more inaccurate (West et al., 2008).

**H1d:** Task-specific predictions for the sMCI group were expected to be significantly more overconfident in their predictions compared to the healthy group, whereas postdictions between groups were not expected to significantly differ. This is because predictions are thought to be impacted by impaired EF (Souchay et al., 2003), but there is a tendency for calibration after utilizing the

task/activity as a cue of performance (Halamish et al., 2011) for all groups being compared.

H1e: Informant reports of PM problems would be significantly higher in magnitude for the sMCI group compared to the informant reports for the healthy controls, since informant reports often correlate more with actual impairment (Hickox et al., 1992; Sunderland et al., 1984).

**H1f:** Informants would be more accurate regarding meta-PM performance for the sMCI group compared to healthy controls, given previous findings that informant reports are more predictive of memory performance than self-reports of memory functioning (Hickox et al., 1992; Sunderland et al., 1984).

*Hypothesis 2 (H<sub>2</sub>):* Executive functioning capabilities were expected to be significantly more impaired in the sMCI group compared to the healthy older adult group (Mäntylä et al., 2010).

*Hypothesis 3 (H<sub>3</sub>):* The difference in meta-PM and objective PM performance between groups would be explained by impaired EF capabilities given the substantial literature regarding the significant relationships between EF and objective PM function, as well as metamemory awareness (Mäntylä et al., 2010; Schmitter-Edgecombe et al., 2009; Souchay et al., 2003).

# **CHAPTER TWO**

# Method

# **Participants**

Participants aged 60 to 90 were recruited from an established database through the Laboratory of Aging Science and Health, in addition to community-posted flyers and hospital-based referrals from an outpatient neuropsychology office. A total of 99 older adults participated in the study, but 14 participants were omitted from analysis due to incomplete participation or insufficient data. Specifically, one participant had an upset stomach and asked to end their participation early, and two participants experienced technological difficulties with the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (WCST) program. The remaining 11 participants that were omitted from analysis were omitted during datascreening procedures described below. As a result, 81 participants were included in the final analysis, and all demographic data for the participants can be found in Table 1, below.

Table 1Participant Demographics

1 anicipani Demographics					
	Full Sample	Healthy	sMCI		
Sample Size	81	50	31		
Mean Age (SD)	71.05 (5.2)	70.30 (5.2)	72.26 (4.9)		
Gender					
Men	34	20	14		
Women	47	30	17		
Self-Identified Race					
American Indian	2	2			
Asian	1	1			
Hispanic/Latinx	1	1			
Mixed	4	4			
White/Caucasian	73	42	31		
Mean Education Years (SD)	15.12 (2.4)*	15.56 (2.5)	14.42 (2.3)		
<12	1		1		
12	15	8	7		
13-15	21	10	12		
16	23	19	4		
17-19	17	10	7		
>20	3	3			
MMSE Performance (SD)	26.56 (3.1)**	28.30 (1.8)	23.74 (2.7)		
18	1		1		
19-24	21		21		
25-29	8	31	8		
30	51	19	1		

*Note:* \* denotes p < .05; \*\* denotes p < .001; An MMSE score at or below a 24 was used for a cutoff of community-recruited participants; however, some participants meeting criteria for sMCI were recruited with confirmed diagnoses of MCI made by a clinical neuropsychologist and were therefore categorized as sMCI for the purposes of the study.

Participants were divided into respective "healthy" and "sMCI" groups based on scores obtained from a dementia screener, the Mini Mental State Examination (MMSE; Folstein et al., 1975) administered in the laboratory. Participants who scored at or below a 24 on the MMSE were classified in the sMCI category for purposes of the study. Participants could also be considered a part of the sMCI group if they were diagnosed with MCI or a Minor Neurocognitive Disorder after independent evaluation by a neuropsychologist. Given an *a priori* power analysis using hierarchical regression in G-Power, a total of 68 participants (34 in each group) was the target recruitment number to detect a medium effect size when employing a .80 power approximation (Cohen, 2013). Although the targeted recruitment number was 68 and our sample exceeded that number, there were only 31 participants that comprised the sMCI group, while there were 50 participants that comprised the healthy group, given both the community and hospitalbased recruitment strategy. For group comparisons using ANCOVA, the *a priori* power analysis indicated a total sample size of 52 (26 participants per group) to detect a large effect as seen in recent older adult literature (Rabin et al., 2014), which our sample exceeded. Individuals who had prior neurocognitive diagnoses, with the exception of Mild Cognitive Impairment (MCI)/Minor Neurocognitive Disorder, were excluded from the study. Participants who were colorblind were also be excluded from the study. All other psychiatric and health-related diagnoses were controlled for during analyses.

Notably, informant data collection was attempted for the entirety of the sample; however, only 58 informants (n = 22 sMCI; n = 36 healthy) completed the required questions for participants, and therefore resulted in an underpowered informant group.

# Materials

*Mini Mental State Examination (MMSE).* The Mini Mental State Examination (MMSE; Folstein et al., 1975) is a commonly used dementia screening when considering neurocognitive diagnoses according to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM). It is a paper-based exam with a minimum score of 1 and a maximum score of 30. Lower scores generally indicate greater severity of cognitive dysfunction, while higher scores >24 are representative of normal cognitive function. The MMSE has shown adequate sensitivity (0.87) and specificity (0.82; Creavin et al., 2016). For this study, participants that scored at or below a 24 on the MMSE were categorized into the sMCI group for analysis, based on Lopez and colleagues recommended cutoff (Lopez et al., 2005).

*Prospective and Retrospective Memory Questionnaire (PRMQ).* The Prospective and Retrospective Memory Questionnaire (PRMQ; G. Smith et al., 2000) is a 16-item self-report questionnaire asking about prospective and retrospective memory failures. Participants are asked to rate how often each item happens to them on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 'very often' (5) to 'never,' (1), resulting in maximum and minimum total scores of 80 and 16. Crawford and group (2003) reported Cronbach's alpha values of 0.89, 0.84, and 0.80 for the Total scale, Prospective scale, and Retrospective scale, indicating good reliabilities for all subscales. For our dataset, Cronbach's alpha values were 0.90, 0.84, and 0.80 for the Total scale, Prospective scale, and Retrospective scale,

indicating excellent and good reliabilities, respectively. Further, the PRMQ was developed to capture memory problems related to both normal aging and those with neurocognitive decline, including dementia and as such, has been used in older adult populations (G. Smith et al., 2000). The PRMQ has been used in both older adult and younger adult populations, as well as older adult clinical populations (Crawford et al., 2003; Thompson et al., 2015).

# Prospective and Retrospective Memory Questionnaire Proxy (PRMQ-Proxy).

The Prospective and Retrospective Memory Questionnaire (PRMQ-*Proxy*; G. Smith et al., 2000) is a 16-item self-report questionnaire asking about prospective and retrospective memory failures, rated by an informant for a participant. Informants are asked to rate how often each item happens to their loved using the same scale as above. Crawford and group (2006) reported acceptable Cronbach's alpha values of 0.92, 0.87, and 0.83 for the Total scale, Prospective scale, and Retrospective Scale, indicating excellent and good reliabilities, respectively. For our dataset, Cronbach's alpha values were 0.96, 0.94, and 0.92 for the Total scale, Prospective scale, and Retrospective scale, indicating excellent reliabilities. When used in older adult populations, G. Smith and colleagues (2000) found that informant reports only differed significantly from older adults with Alzheimer's Disease, whereas caregiver reports were not statistically different from healthy older adults and younger controls.

### Royal Prince Alfred Prospective Memory Test (RPA Pro-Mem). The Royal

Prince Alfred Prospective Memory Test (RPA; Radford et al., 2011) is a behavioral measure consisting of four items designed to assess objective prospective memory functioning. The measure consists of two time-based and two event-based PM tasks to be

completed either within the session or up to a week following the administration. Each item receives a score out of three points, with a maximum score of 12. If a participant recalls the task content correctly at the appropriate time or the appropriate environmental cue, they receive full credit/points for that particular item. Standardized administration of this measure requires adequate time-checking allotment/availability, as well as permission of memory aid use. This measure has shown excellent inter-rater reliability (ICC = .97), and good ecological validity when compared with self-reported prospective memory complaints (Radford et al., 2011). The RPA was also found to have satisfactory alternate form reliability (r = .71; Radford et al., 2011). When tested between controls and neurological patient groups, the RPA revealed significant differences with large effects, indicating that the RPA was able to distinguish healthy controls from those with neurocognitive impairment (Radford et al., 2011).

*Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (WCST).* The Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (WCST; Grant & Berg, 1948) is a measure designed to assess abstract reasoning, perseveration, and set-shifting. The measure is capable of both computer and manual administration, and it consists of four stimulus cards and 128 response cards with different shapes (circle, triangle, star, cross), numbers (one, two, three, or four), and colors (red, blue, green, and yellow). On the computerized version, utilized in the current study, the four stimulus cards are displayed near the middle of the screen and a response card is displayed on the bottom of the screen. The participant is instructed to match the response card to one of the stimulus cards based on a rule of shape, number, or color. The program gives the participant either "correct" or "incorrect" feedback so the participant can adjust the rule they utilize accordingly. After 10 consecutive rule-matches, the sorting

principle shifts without warning or the participant's knowledge and proceeds until all three possible sorting categories have been completed twice (Fortuny & Heaton, 1996a). This task has been used in neurocognitive evaluations for impairment to determine more complex set-shifting abilities and complex problem solving in clinical populations, but it has also been used for research in various populations (Fortuny & Heaton, 1996b).

*Stroop Color-Word Test.* The Stroop Color-Word Test (Golden, 1978) was designed to measure inhibitory control by assessing the ability of the participant to suppress reading a word and instead name the color ink in which the word is printed. The word-sets consist of color names on a card printed in different color ink (incongruent) or color words in the same ink color (congruent). The task requires participants to name the color of ink the words are printed in as quickly as possible. The Mayo Older Americans Normative Studies (MOANS) age- and education-matched norms will be used for scoring (Ivnik et al., 1996).

*Trail Making Task (Parts A & B).* The Trail Making Task is part of the Halstead-Reitan battery (Reitan & Wolfson, 1986) and measures psychomotor speed and simple set-shifting. For this task, the participant traces numbers and letters as quickly as they are able, and their time as well as number of errors is recorded. The Trail Making Task has demonstrated high forms of reliability between .78 to .92 (Bowie & Harvey, 2006), and it has been found to represent an index of frontal lobe integrity (Reitan, 1958; Spreen & Strauss, 1991). Moreover, it has been used in an abundance of populations ranging from normal cognitive functioning to those with neurocognitive impairment (Bowie & Harvey, 2006).

*COVID-19 Personal Protective Equipment.* The study was conducted during the middle of the COVID-19 pandemic, and therefore, personal protective equipment (PPE) was used to protect the researchers and the older adults being studied. PPE included surgical face masks, hand sanitizer, and disinfectant. Face masks or coverings were required at all points during data collection for both researchers and participants. Researchers were additionally trained on how to appropriately wear their masks, as well as how to facilitate participant mask-wearing. Moreover, hand sanitizer was readily available during data collection, and it was encouraged to be utilized by both the participant and researcher before, during, and after data collection. Disinfectant was used to sanitize desks, keyboards, doorknobs, pens/pencils, and all hard surfaces with which participants and researchers came into contact. If a participant had their own mask they wanted to wear, they were permitted to do so, as long as it met the requirements of covering their nose and mouth. Surgical face masks were available for participant use if they did not have their own.

### Procedure

Prior to presenting to the laboratory, participants were contacted via phone to first answer screening questions related to the study and the COVID-19 pandemic. During the phone screening, they were asked their name, age, number of completed years of education, if they have been diagnosed with any dementia-related illnesses, if they were taking medications to help their memory, if they were color-blind, and if they had COVID-19, had been in contact with someone who had COVID-19, as well as if they had experienced any respiratory symptoms that are similar to that of COVID-19. If participants had any recent exposure or had any symptoms of COVID-19, participants

were re-contacted four weeks later to try to schedule when they were healthy and noncontagious.

Upon arrival to the laboratory, participants were instructed to wear a face mask during the entirety of data collection and were encouraged to use hand sanitizer before, during and after data collection as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. After PPE and sanitation procedures were explained, participants were given a description of the study and had the opportunity to ask questions. Once understanding of procedures was ensured, participants signed all necessary informed consent paperwork. Next, participants were administered the MMSE to determine group status (i.e., healthy vs sMCI). However, due to the nature of the population being assessed and the danger of impaired cognition, it was imperative appropriate resources are given when needed. Therefore, those scoring at or below an 18 out of 30 on the MMSE were utilized for the study but received a referral to their general practitioner for facilitation of a neuropsychological evaluation to discuss cognitive decline, based on Crum and colleagues severity ratings of MMSE scores (Crum et al., 1993).

After screening, participants were then given the first two prompts of the RPA (objective PM measure), which outlined two short-term PM prompts that consist of one time-based task and one event-based task and required completion within the context of the laboratory experience. Participants were required to predict their scores on the first two presented tasks of the RPA, and they were also required to postdict their scores upon task-completion (if completed or if time had expired for these tasks). Next, participants completed a demographic questionnaire which collected information relative to participants' age, gender, ethnicity, race, and years of education to allow for appropriate

normative comparisons. After completing the demographic questionnaire, participants were administered the PRMQ to measure their generalized beliefs about their own PM functioning in daily life. Upon completion of the PRMQ, participants completed a memory aid usage questionnaire as an exploratory component beyond the aim of the current project. Next, participants engaged in the EF tasks. Order of EF tasks differed dependent on the time-delay of the RPA tasks, due to the variation of participant response times for the demographics and PRMQ surveys. Therefore, research assistants had to scaffold appropriately. However, the Stroop, TMT Parts A&B, and WCST were all administered during the laboratory time. When necessary, a distractor task (i.e., a verbal fluency task) was implemented to standardize the time-delay of the RPA across subjects. After administration of all EF measures, the researchers presented the final two long-term PM tasks from the RPA. After their presentation, participants were asked to predict their scores for their abilities to complete the tasks.

Once all laboratory tasks were complete, informant contact information was solicited from the participant, as discussed with the participant in the informed consent process. The participant was made aware that the informant will be asked to complete the PRMQ-proxy, either in person or by phone administration. Once the appropriate information was obtained, participants were thanked for their time and were entered into the drawing database for a \$50 gift card as compensation for their participation.

### Data Analytic Plan

All data was analyzed in R-Studio. Data were screened for accuracy and missingness. Approximately 14 participants had greater than 5% missing data (as described above). These participants were omitted from analyses. All participants with
between 0% and 5% missing data were replaced using multiple imputation practices with the MICE feature of R Studio (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2012). The full sample data was not screened for multivariate outliers, as this dataset was expected to encompass participants that would be considered outliers by nature of neurocognitive status; however, analyses aimed at detecting outliers within groups were conducted with Mahalanobis distance scores, and results revealed that there were no outliers within healthy and sMCI groups. Data also met the assumptions for multivariate additivity, linearity, normality, and homogeneity.

Group differences in subjective PM reports on the PRMQ and objective task performance on the RPA were conducted using *t*-tests from the MOTE Package of R Studio with Cohen's *d* effect sizes to provide additional evidentiary support. Additionally, *t*-test calculations were supplemented with Bonferroni correction analyses to control for inflation of Type I error. Group differences in EFs and pre/postdiction performance were also tested using *t*-tests. Generalized meta-PM accuracy for each group was calculated using Pearson correlations between performance on the PRMQ and RPA. To test group differences in generalized meta-PM accuracy, a Fisher's *Z* test was conducted, as it allowed for difference testing between correlations. Task-specific meta-PM accuracy was derived by comprising an overall difference score between predicted performance and actual performance on the RPA. Moreover, a *t*-test with a Bonferroni correction was utilized to test group differences in task-specific meta-PM accuracy. The same statistical methods to determine informant meta-PM accuracies were used.

A hierarchical regression approach was utilized for each individual EF measure to test whether EF accounted for variance above and beyond that of group status alone for

differences in task-specific meta-PM accuracy. This was preferential as opposed to a summary EF score acting as a mediator due to each measure's assessment of different domains of EF. This was completed using the Baron and Kenny (1986) four-step approach to mediation. With this approach, we tested if there were significant relationships between group status and task-specific meta-PM accuracy, group status and EF measures, and EF measures and meta-PM accuracy, before testing the overall hierarchical model. Given the relationship between group status and each EF measure, the relationship between task-specific meta-PM accuracy and group status was reexamined to detect if the relationship changed with the addition of the EF variable.

Lastly, ANCOVAs were conducted with covariates of education, psychological diagnoses, psychiatric medications, and total number of health conditions for all main dependent variables of the study. ANCOVA results were compared to ANOVA findings for all DVs to detect if the inclusion of these covariates changed the statistical outcomes.

## **CHAPTER THREE**

#### Results

# Self-Reported and Objective Prospective Memory

As hypothesized in H1a and as displayed in Table 2 below, the sMCI group had significantly higher self-reported PM failures on the overall PRMQ (t(79) = -2.68, p = .01), in addition to both the prospective (t(79) = -2.40, p = .02) and retrospective (t(79) = -2.59, p = .01) memory subscales. Moreover, in alignment with H1b, the sMCI group performed significantly worse on the objective PM measure, the RPA overall score (t(79) = 5.37, p < .001), and on all four RPA subscales including time-based (t(79) = 4.03, p < .001), event-based (t(79) = 3.83, p < .001), short-term (t(79) = 5.72, p < .001), and long-

term (t(79) = 2.16, p = .03) subscales, with medium to large effects. Notably, *p*-values

were unaffected by the addition of Bonferroni correction analyses.

Table 2Group Means and Standard Errors by Measure

	Healthy $(n = 50)$			sMCI ( <i>n</i> = 31)		
Measures	М	SE	М	SE	d-value	
MMSE	28.30	0.26	23.74	0.48	2.08**	
PRMQ Total	37.40	1.25	42.84	1.60	0.61*	
PRMQ Prospective	19.94	0.64	22.55	0.92	0.55*	
PRMQ Retrospective	17.46	0.70	20.29	0.81	0.59*	
RPA Total	9.08	0.26	6.19	0.54	1.23**	
RPA Item 1 (short-term, time-based)	2.28	0.13	1.26	0.22	0.98**	
RPA Item 2 (short-term, event-based)	1.96	0.16	0.87	0.22	0.93**	
RPA Item 3 (long-term, event-based)	2.56	0.13	2.19	0.21	0.36	
RPA Item 4 (long-term, time-based)	2.28	0.11	1.87	0.23	0.41	
RPA Time-Based (Items 1 &4)	4.56	0.19	3.13	0.34	0.92**	
RPA Event-Based (Items 2 & 3)	4.52	0.21	3.06	0.35	0.88**	
RPA Short-Term (Items 1 & 2)	4.24	0.21	2.13	0.32	1.31**	
RPA Long-Term (Items 3 & 4)	4.84	0.18	4.06	0.36	0.49*	
Stroop Word Condition (T-scores)	43.60	1.71	34.52	1.75	0.81**	
Stroop Color Condition (T-scores)	43.50	1.47	34.94	1.34	0.91**	
Stroop Color-Word Condition (T-scores)	47.56	1.38	40.71	1.47	0.75*	
Stroop Interference ( <i>T</i> -scores)	45.88	1.23	43.03	1.57	0.33	
Trails A Time (Raw seconds)	27.84	1.23	33.10	1.96	0.55*	
Trails A Errors	0.20	0.09	0.32	0.11	0.19	
Trails B Time (Raw seconds)	70.02	3.53	124.32	17.02	0.88**	
Trails B Errors	0.52	0.13	1.00	0.29	0.39	
WCST Total Errors (T-scores)	56.46	1.63	43.97	1.88	1.12**	
WCST Perseverative Errors (T-scores)	57.78	1.39	47.84	1.98	0.96**	
WCST Non-Perseverative Errors ( <i>T</i> -scores)	52.76	1.93	40.55	2.09	0.94**	
WCST Categories Completed (Raw)	5.20	0.22	3.26	0.42	1.03**	

*Note:* \* denotes p < .05; \*\* denotes p < .001.; MMSE = Mini Mental State Examination, PRMQ = Prospective and Retrospective Memory Questionnaire; RPA = Royal Prince Alfred Prospective Memory Test, Stroop = Stroop Color Word Test; Trails = Trail Making Test; WCST = Wisconsin Card Sorting Test

# Generalized and Task-Specific Meta-Prospective Memory Accuracy

To test differences in generalized meta-PM accuracy, the relationship between

reported PM failures on the PRMQ and actual performance on the RPA had to be

determined utilizing Pearson's *R*. There was a significant correlation between the overall PRMQ score and RPA total score for the full sample (r = -.38, p < .001) and the healthy group (r = -.46, p < .001), but not for the sMCI group (r = -.12, p = .51). All correlations between measures can be seen in Tables 3, 4, and 5. Despite significant group differences on objective PM and higher reported PM failures in the sMCI group, there were no significant differences in generalized meta-PM accuracy between groups (Fisher's Z =

1.55, p = .12) which is in opposition of H1c.

Table 3							
Correlation of Measures for the Full Sample							
Measure	1	2	3	4	5	6	
1. MMSE							
2. PRMQ	35*						
3. RPA	.61**	38**					
4. Stroop	.21	.03	.16				
5. Trails A	29*	.19	30*	02			
6. Trails B	59**	.28*	44**	26*	.46**		
7. WCST	.43**	34*	.23*	.12	23*	47**	

*Note:* \* denotes p < .05; \*\* denotes p < .001; PRMQ = PRMQ total score, RPA = RPA total score, Stroop = Stroop Interference score, Trails A = Trails A Time score, Trails B = Trails B Time score, and WCST = Wisconsin Card Sorting Test Total Errors

Table 4						
Correlation	of Measur	res for the H	ealthy Gro	ир		
Measure	1	2	3	4	5	6
1. MMSE						
2. PRMQ	31*					
3. RPA	.07	46**				
4. Stroop	.10	.12	.03			
5. Trails A	.02	.15	.03	.12		
6. Trails B	22	.39*	16	33*	.44*	
7. WCST	.00	21	.06	03	08	43*

*Note:* \* denotes p < .05; \*\* denotes p < .001; PRMQ = PRMQ total score, RPA = RPA total score, Stroop = Stroop Interference score, Trails A = Trails A Time score, Trails B = Trails B Time score, and WCST = Wisconsin Card Sorting Test Total Errors

Table 5								
Correlation of Measures for the sMCI Group								
Measure	1	2	3	4	5	6		
1. MMSE								
2. PRMQ	12							
3. RPA	.63**	12						
4. Stroop	.18	00	.16					
5. Trails A	30	.08	39*	13				
6. Trails B	60**	.16	35*	10	.50*			
7. WCST	.32	29	13	.19	17	42*		
7. WCST	.32	29	13	.19	17	42*		

*Note:* \* denotes p < .05; \*\* denotes p < .001; PRMQ = PRMQ total score, RPA = RPA total score, Stroop = Stroop Interference score, Trails A = Trails A Time score, Trails B = Trails B Time score, and WCST = Wisconsin Card Sorting Test Total Errors

Notably, though, the sMCI group displayed significantly lower task-specific accuracy compared to the healthy group on the overall RPA (t(79) = -3.89, p < .001), indicating that H1d was met (see Table 6). More specifically, the sMCI group was over-confident on item 1 (t(79) = -2.74, p = .008) and item 2 (t(79) = -2.52, p = .01), which are lab-based tasks. However, there were no significant differences in performance on item 3 (t(79) = -1.71, p = .09) and item 4 (t(79) = -0.92, p = .36), which are home-based tasks. Also, as hypothesized in H1d, both groups displayed calibration at test, as evidenced by non-significant differences in overall postdiction accuracies (t(79) = -0.42, p = .68). Similarly to above, p-values were unaffected by the addition of Bonferroni correction analyses.

Group Means and Sianaara Errors in Task-Specific Meia-PM Accuracy						
	Healthy	v(n = 50)	sMC]	)		
Measures	М	SE	M	SE	d-value	
RPA Item 1 Prediction	0.40	0.14	1.06	0.20	0.63*	
<b>RPA Item 2 Prediction</b>	0.34	0.20	1.13	0.24	0.58*	
<b>RPA</b> Item 3 Prediction	0.40	0.14	0.81	0.21	0.39	
<b>RPA</b> Item 4 Prediction	0.60	0.12	0.84	0.27	0.21	

 Table 6

 Group Means and Standard Errors in Task-Specific Meta-PM Accuracy

<b>RPA</b> Total Prediction	1.74	0.30	3.84	0.48	0.89**
RPA Item 1 Postdiction	0.36	0.12	0.45	0.15	0.10
RPA Item 2 Postdiction	0.08	0.12	0.10	0.20	0.02
<b>RPA</b> Total Postdiction	0.44	0.15	0.55	0.23	0.09

Note: \* denotes p < .05; \*\* denotes p < .001; Prediction refers to the task-specific prediction accuracy; Postdiction refers to the task-specific postdiction accuracy; RPA = Royal Prince Alfred Prospective Memory Test

# **Executive Function Group Differences**

Differences between groups on all EF measures and sub-scales were tested (see Table 2). H2 was partially supported, with the sMCI group displaying significantly more impaired EFs on certain measures compared to the healthy group. Specifically, the sMCI group displayed significantly worse performance on the Stroop Word (t(79) = 3.52,  $p < 10^{-10}$ .001), Color (t(79) = 4.00, p < .001), and Color-Word (t(79) = 3.26, p = .002) conditions; however, there were no significant differences between groups on the overall Stroop Interference score (t(79) = 1.43, p = .16). The sMCI group also displayed slower processing speed based on Trails A raw performance (t(79) = -2.40, p = .02), but there were no group differences in errors made on this subtest (t(79) = -0.84, p = .40). Simple set-shifting, as measured by Trails B, was significantly worse in the sMCI group (t(79) =-3.85, p < .001), but similarly to Trails A, there was no difference in the number of errors made on this subtest (t(79) = -1.71, p = .09). Finally, complex set-shifting, as measured by the WCST, was significantly more impaired in the sMCI group. This level of impairment was displayed for the total number of errors (t(79) = 4.91, p < .001), perseverative errors (t(79) = 4.21, p < .001), non-perseverative errors (t(79) = 4.13, p < .001) .001), and the total number of categories completed (t = 4.50, p < .001), all with large effect sizes. Notably, p-values were unaffected by the addition of Bonferroni correction analyses.

#### The Role of Executive Function in Task-Specific Accuracy

To test whether impaired EF performance explained the group differences in taskspecific meta-PM accuracy, three separate two-stage hierarchical regressions were employed with task-specific meta-PM accuracy as the dependent variable, group status as the independent variable, and various measures of EF (WCST total errors, Stroop interference score, and Trails B time to complete) that reflect different EF domains as the additive variables. Prior to conducting the hierarchical multiple regressions, the relevant assumptions of this analysis were tested and met (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2012). Group status was entered first for all models to control for the effects of neurocognitive status with task-specific meta-PM accuracy as the dependent variable. Each EF variable was entered at stage two. The first hierarchical regression indicated that at stage one, Group Status contributed significantly to the regression model (F(1, 79) = 15.14, p < .001) and accounted for 16% of the variation in task-specific meta-PM accuracy. Introducing the WCST Total Errors variable did not explain any additional variation, resulting in a nonsignificant change in  $R^2$  (F(1, 78) = 0.0001, p = .99). The second two-stage hierarchical regression was conducted with task-specific meta-PM accuracy as the dependent variable and Stroop Interference entered at stage two of the regression. Introducing the Stroop Interference variable did not explain any additional variation, resulting in a nonsignificant change in  $R^2$  (F(1, 78) = 0.26, p = .61). The third and final hierarchical regression was conducted with task-specific meta-PM accuracy as the dependent variable, and Trails B Time was entered at stage two. Introducing the Trails B Time variable explained an additional 1% of the variation in task-specific meta-PM accuracy; however, this additional variation accounted for still resulted in a non-significant change

in  $R^2$  (F(1, 77) = 1.39, p = .24). Therefore, contrary to H3, measures of EF did not

explain the group differences in task-specific meta-PM accuracy above and beyond group status alone. Further, because no significant difference in generalized meta-PM accuracy was displayed between groups, the models were not conducted with generalized meta-PM accuracy as a dependent variable. All hierarchical regression data are reported in Table 7.

Summary of merurenicul Reg		uiysis jor 0	гоир ыш	us unu Lite	Cunve
Function Measures Predicting	Task-Spec	ific Meta-P	M Accure	асу	
Variable	b	t	sr <sup>2</sup>	$R^2$	$\Delta R^2$
Step 1				.16	.16
Group Status $(b_1)$	2.10	3.89**	.16		
Step 2				.16	.00
Group Status	2.10	3.38**	.12		
WCST Total Errors $(b_2)$	0.00	-0.001	.00		
Step 2				.16	.00
Group Status	2.05	3.74**	.15		
Stroop Interference $(b_2)$	-0.02	-0.51	.00		
Step 2				.18	.01
Group Status	1.82	3.11*	.10		
Trails B Raw Time $(b_2)$	0.01	1.18	.01		

Summary of Hierarchical Repression Analysis for Group Status and Executive

Note: \* denotes p < .05; \*\* denotes p < .001; all b estimates are unstandardized.

# **Covariates for a Complex Population**

Table 7

Given the complex nature of an older adult participant group (e.g., large variation in education, greater number of medical diagnoses, more medication use, etc.), difference tests were re-analyzed using ANCOVA to control for the influence of education, psychotropic medication use, and number of health conditions as covariates. When controlling for education as a covariate for group differences in all dependent variables, there were mostly no significant changes in the data from the original *d*-test outcomes reported previously (Table 2). However, one outcome did differ with ANCOVA analyses controlling for education as a covariate. Previously with ANOVA, processing speed, as

measured by performance on Trails A, was significantly different between groups, with the sMCI group performing at a slower pace than the healthy group (F(1, 79) = 4.64, p = .03). Utilizing ANCOVA with education as a covariate, there were no significant differences between groups in processing speed performance on Trails A (F(1, 78) = 3.49, p = .07). There were no other changes in dependent variable outcomes between the sMCI and healthy groups when using ANCOVA to control for psychological diagnoses, psychiatric medications, and number of health conditions as covariates.

## Heterogeneity in Hospital- Versus Community-Recruited sMCI

Given that the sMCI group was recruited through both a neuropsychology hospital clinic and through community volunteerism, it is important to consider that group differences may be present in the sMCI group dependent on between recruitment avenues. As such, group difference tests were conducted to determine if the hospitalrecruited sMCI participants significantly differed from community-recruited sMCI participants on the main measures of the study. Notably, there were 14 hospital-recruited and 17 community-recruited sMCI participants, creating slightly underpowered groups to conduct group difference testing. Even so, using *t*-test analyses, there were significant group differences in which the hospital-recruited sMCI group performed worse on the MMSE (t(29) = -2.22, p = .04, d = .80), RPA total scale (t(29) = -2.60, p = .02, d = 0.94), RPA time-based scale (t(29) = -4.74, p < .001, d = 1.71), and the RPA short-term scale (t(29) = -2.85, p = .008, d = 1.03). However, there were no significant differences between hospital and community sMCI participants on the PRMQ, EF measures, or in generalized meta-PM accuracy, task-specific meta-PM accuracy, and postdiction accuracy.

#### **Informant-Reported Prospective Memory**

Finally, informant reports were taken into consideration for this population, given that most older adults presenting in outpatient neuropsychological settings have a collateral report of memory functioning, as anosognosia often accompanies several neuropsychological disorders. A correlation between informant reported PM difficulties on the PRMQ and participant-reported difficulties was conducted to see if reports were similar to one another. There was a significant correlation between PRMQ scores reported by informants and scores reported by participants (r = .53, p < .001). Also in alignment with participant data and H1e, informants reported significantly more generalized PM failures for the sMCI group compared to the healthy group (t(79) = -5.69), p < .001, d = 1.30) and data were unaffected by Bonferroni correction. To test H1f, several analyses were conducted. To examine the difference between generalized meta-PM accuracy for informants and participants, informants' reports of generalized PM failures on the PRMQ-Proxy were significantly correlated with participants' actual performance on the RPA (r = -.59, p < .001), with greater memory difficulties reported by the informant, reflecting lower overall performance on the RPA. To test if there was a significant difference between informants and participants in their generalized meta-PM accuracy, a Fisher's Z test was conducted, and results revealed that there were no significant differences between informants and participants regarding generalized meta-PM accuracy (Fisher's Z = -1.61, p = .12), partially in contradiction to H1f.

Although generalized meta-PM accuracy did not differ between informants and participants, task-specific meta-PM accuracy between informants and participants was examined. Informants' task-specific meta-PM accuracy for participants was not

significantly different from the full sample (t(79) = 1.62, p = .11, d = .37). However, when data were split to compare task-specific meta-PM accuracy between informants and the sMCI group alone, there were significant differences, in which informants were more accurate (or less overconfident) than participants for task-specific predictions of PM performance (t(51) = -4.40, p < .001, d = 1.23). Notably, the data did not follow the same pattern for the healthy group, wherein there were no group differences (t(84) = -1.02, p =.31, d = 0.22). Notably, p-values were unaffected by the addition of Bonferroni correction analyses. These results conclude that informants may provide more accurate and less overconfident task-specific appraisals of PM performance compared to self-reported taskspecific appraisals from those with sMCI.

## **CHAPTER FOUR**

#### Discussion

This study examined the performance of healthy older adults and older adults with sMCI with regard to several facets of PM and EF, in addition to generalized and task-specific meta-PM accuracy. These results provide unique evidence that healthy older adults and sMCI older adults are equivalent in their generalized meta-PM accuracy but not in their task-specific accuracy. However, in alignment with previous literature, the sMCI group displayed significantly greater self-reported PM difficulties, while performance was significantly lower on objective measures of PM and several sub-facets of EF compared to the healthy group. For task-specific meta-PM accuracy, the sMCI group was significantly over-confident in predicting performance, though they calibrated their postdictions based on their perceptions of their objective performance. Interestingly, despite worse performance on several measures of EF and the significant difference in

task-specific meta-PM accuracy between groups, our study revealed that EF did not account for the difference in meta-PM accuracy between groups above and beyond that of neurocognitive status alone. This study was the first to compare both generalized and task-specific meta-PM accuracy between healthy and sMCI groups, as well as the first to examine how different aspects of EF related to task-specific meta-PM accuracy. In doing so, the results suggest that older adults with sMCI have several cognitive processes that could serve as targets for early intervention in hopes of preventing neurocognitive decline and functional difficulties.

## A Replication and Extension

Since this study was a replication and extension of Thompson and colleagues (2015) work, a comparison of our findings to this study is essential. Thompson and group (2015) compared older adults with cognitive impairment (MCI and dementia) to healthy older adults on measures of self-reported and performance-based PM and RM, in addition to examining informant-reported differences in these populations. They found their hypothesized spectrum of performance on the objective PM measure, in which the dementia group performed the worst, the MCI group performed in the middle, and the healthy control group performed the best out of all groups. There were significant differences between groups at each level, suggesting that each level of neurocognitive status was distinctly different from one another on PM performance (Thompson et al., 2015). Moreover, Thompson's (2015) group reported no significant correlation between self-reported PM, informant-reported PM, and objective PM performance for any of the groups, indicating that generalized meta-PM was inaccurate for all

participants, regardless of neurocognitive status. These findings are in opposition to Hsu and colleagues (2014), from which findings revealed high correlations between informant-reported PM with objective neurocognitive performance. The current study addressed a gap in the Thompson and group (2015) research by measuring task-specific meta-PM accuracies, in addition to generalized meta-PM accuracy, and by examining the role of several EFs in generalized and task-specific meta-PM accuracy.

The current study's findings are in alignment with Thompson and colleagues' (2015) study with regard to performance on the objective PM test, wherein our sMCI group displayed significantly worse overall PM performance. The current study's results also echo Thompson and group's (2015) work with regard to informant reports, as our study similarly found no significant difference in informant reports of PM problems compared to participants. The current study and Thompson and colleagues' (2015) study diverge on the findings related to generalized meta-PM accuracy. In alignment with Hsu and group (2014), the current study found that as self-reported PM difficulties increased, objective PM performance decreased. Informant reports followed the same pattern in the current study, wherein greater informant-reported PM problems were significantly negatively correlated with poorer performance on a measure of objective PM. However, this pattern was not detected for the sMCI group, as their data indicated no significant correlation between subjective PM and objective PM performance. Importantly, this lack of correlation for the sMCI group may have influenced the non-significant differences in generalized meta-PM accuracy between participants and informants, as the sMCI group's non-significant data likely reduced the overall participant data for generalized meta-PM,

making it more difficult to detect significance between overall participants and informants.

The current study extended Thompson and colleagues' (2015) work by examining task-specific accuracies in meta-PM via confidence predictions and postdictions of objective PM performance. Eliciting task-specific predictions and postdictions of PM performance provided data on confidence levels in participants' ability to complete each PM task and on participants' ability to update their judgments after having experience with PM task stimuli. These task-specific predictions promote regulation strategies when approaching future PM tasks (Meier et al., 2011). For example, an individual should judge if a PM task is considered difficult (predictions) to determine the need for a reminder or reliable cue, providing metacognitive regulation of PM task behaviors and ultimately, PM success. Once a PM task has been either completed or forgotten, reflection upon behaviors related to the PM task (postdictions) aides in updating future strategies when approach similar PM task demands (Correa et al., 1996).

In alignment with hypotheses, the current study found that the sMCI group displayed lower task-specific accuracy compared to the healthy group for the overall measure of PM performance, in addition to performance on the first two items of the objective PM measure. Also as predicted, the lower task-specific accuracy for the sMCI group further trended in the direction of over-confidence, wherein the sMCI group believed they would perform better than they did on an objective PM measure. Notably, there were no significant differences in task-specific meta-PM accuracy on the last two items of the objective PM measure, indicating that the first two items' significant differences likely influenced the overall measure differences between healthy and sMCI

groups. Additionally, all groups had more accurate postdictions of their performance, displaying the universal metacognitive trend of calibration once familiarity and experience with the PM tasks were had.

#### The Nuance of Task-Specific Meta-Prospective Memory

Interpretation of item-level PM data is crucial in this study, given that significant item-level differences in task-specific meta-PM accuracies and item-level differences PM performances were observed between groups. As such, the objective PM measure utilized in this study, the RPA, was selected because it targets the various contexts and environments in which PM has been studied (Radford et al., 2011). Specifically, the RPA requires participants to engage in tasks that are short- and long-term, time- and eventbased, and in laboratory and naturalistic settings, all of which have had merit when determining PM success in older adults. On the RPA, item 1 is a short-term, time-based task, item 2 is a short-term, event-based task, item 3 is a long-term, event-based task, and item 4 is a long-term, time-based task. In the current study, the healthy group outperformed the sMCI group on laboratory items 1 and 2 of the RPA, but not on naturalistic items 3 and 4, which was in alignment with the sMCI group's overconfidence in their predictions of their PM performance on items 1 and 2. Due to the variation in types of task environment and cue type (Ellis & Kvavilashvili, 2000), there are several avenues for interpretation as to why the sMCI group performed significantly worse on items 1 and 2, as well as why the sMCI group displayed overconfidence on these items.

Items 1 and 2 on the RPA represent time- and event-based PM tasks, respectively, and as previously discussed, older adults generally have exhibited greater difficulty on time-based tasks when compared to event-based tasks (Costa et al., 2011; Troyer &

Murphy, 2007). Despite these findings, the literature has been mixed for the MCI population. Prior studies have reported that time-based PM tasks provide greater sensitivity in discrimination between MCI and healthy control participants (Costa et al., 2015), but a meta-analytic report noted that PM impairments for MCI groups were comparable between time- and event-based tasks (van den Berg et al., 2012). In the current study, the sMCI group displayed significantly worse performance on both time-based and event-based tasks compared to healthy controls, confirming meta-analytic reports, and suggesting that cognitive impairments in those with sMCI may compromise all systems of PM encoding and retrieval (Costa et al., 2011), regardless of PM cue-type.

Moreover, Items 1 and 2 on the RPA are laboratory-based, short-term PM tasks that were presented to the study participants after completing initial informed consent paperwork. Therefore, the timing and presentation of these tasks as the first instructions for the experiment could have impacted the way in which participants approached intention formation for PM task completion, with the sMCI group being less prepared to shift attention to PM task instruction. Furthermore, prior studies have found that older adults have more difficulty in laboratory environments compared to naturalistic environments for PM task completion (Henry et al., 2004); however, cognitively impaired older adults have displayed substantial PM difficulty regardless of PM environment (Will et al., 2009). In the current study, the sMCI group was only significantly outperformed by the healthy group on the laboratory tasks, suggesting that task environment could serve as a significant variable in PM task performance for those with decreased neurocognitive status. Likewise, the sMCI group in the current study only displayed significant overconfidence in predictions of PM performance for items 1 and 2 of the RPA. It is probable that providing task-specific predictions of PM task performance reflected a novel idea and experience for the participant group as a whole, but due to potential decreased awareness of objective PM performance in the sMCI group (Vannini et al., 2017), they reported over-confidence in their task-specific PM abilities. Notably, instructions for items 3 and 4 of the RPA were administered after the completion or forgetting of items 1 and 2, which also required the experimenter to elicit postdictions of PM performance. Providing postdictions for items 1 and 2 likely served as an opportunity to calibrate and regulate prediction scores for items 3 and 4, given the metacognitive trend to update cognitive valuations and implement changes to behavior to successfully accomplish tasks in the future (Correa et al., 1996).

# **The Role of Executive Function**

The theoretical debate between spontaneous retrieval through automatic processing (McDaniel & Einstein, 2011) and methods of strategic monitoring in PM (Arnold et al., 2015; R. E. Smith & Bayen, 2004) sparked the current study's expansion of previous PM literature in healthy and sMCI populations by including several neuropsychological measurements of EF. The EFs that are in alignment with theories of spontaneous retrieval or strategic monitoring are that of response inhibition and setshifting, because whether one spontaneously retrieves or is engaging in strategic monitoring, one must stop what they are doing in an ongoing task (inhibition), and shift to behaviors needed to complete the PM task. Therefore, response inhibition and setshifting are necessary processes, despite which theory of PM is employed. In the current study, the sMCI group performed significantly below healthy older adults in the domains of simple and complex set-shifting paradigms. However, with regard to response

inhibition, results were more nuanced. Specifically, the sMCI group performed worse on the Word-Reading, Color, and Color-Word conditions of the Stroop Test; however, the score that is thought to be most representative of response inhibition (Ivnik et al., 1996), the Interference score, was non-significantly different between groups. This nonsignificant difference for the Interference score could represent the discrepancy in processing speed between groups, with the sMCI group performing significantly worse on measures that tapped into processing speed more than response inhibition. As such, if the sMCI group displayed lower processing speed on the Stroop task for all conditions (e.g., not completing as many items in all conditions within the allotted timeframe), and the Interference score is derived from the discrepancy between prior Word and Color conditions and the Color-Word condition, then the Interference score would not be significantly lower within the group if performance across all conditions was lower. Moreover, it could be hypothesized that the age- and education-adjusted normative data comparisons for the Interference score led to a better statistical fit and did not underrepresent the sMCI group. Therefore, hypotheses regarding poorer EF performance in the sMCI group were partially met, with the exception of the Stroop Interference score.

The current study further sought to understand the role of EF and meta-PM *accuracy*. It was hypothesized that EF would account for differences displayed in meta-PM accuracy between healthy and sMCI groups, due to the abundance of literature suggesting a strong connection between EF performance and memory and metamemory success (Bäckman et al., 2005; Mäntylä et al., 2010; Martin et al., 2003; Souchay et al., 2003). Contrary to hypotheses, EF in this study did not account for differences in task-specific meta-PM accuracy above and beyond that of neurocognitive status alone. This

was expected for our measure of inhibition (Stroop Interference), as the groups did not significantly differ in performance on this measure. However, taking into consideration the significant differences in both simple (Trails B) and complex (WCST) set-shifting measures, this finding was a surprise. The failure of EF to explain the relationship between group status and task-specific meta-PM accuracy could be due to sampling bias. More specifically, our sMCI group was comprised of hospital-recruited participants with a diagnosis of MCI in addition to community-recruited participants who were determined to fall into the MCI category by use of a cognitive screener rather than a full neuropsychological battery. Given the various ways the sMCI group was constructed for this study, as well as the recommended sample size based on a priori power estimates, post-hoc analyses were conducted. Post-hoc power was equal to 0.91 with the total sample size of 81 participants, detecting a medium effect ( $f^2 = 0.17$ ). Given these results, it is likely that there is no clear effect to detect regarding EF's role in task-specific meta-PM accuracy. Nevertheless, because simple and complex set-shifting and PM performance were significantly associated with neurocognitive status, these cognitive processes represent important targets for assessment and intervention.

## Neuropsychological Utility of PM & Meta-PM

This study's findings provide an abundance of clinical and neuropsychological utility. First and foremost, it is not currently standard clinical practice to assess PM within the context of a neuropsychological evaluation because the purpose of a neuropsychological evaluation is typically to determine the diagnosis of an underlying neurodegenerative condition (Kinsella et al., 2018). As it stands, there is not sufficient evidence for PM failures to play a diagnostic role in determining differential diagnoses

between neurodegenerative disorders. Moreover, measures of PM to date have lacked comprehensive norms for a general population, as well as advanced age groups with neurodegenerative conditions. Notably though, most older adults with memory concerns initially consult their medical providers because of PM complaints (G. Smith et al., 2000), and PM is one of the largest predictors of medication adherence in the older adult population (Zogg et al., 2012). These factors alone make the construct of PM a fruitful neuropsychological domain for consideration in assessment and early intervention.

Moreover, the assessment of PM may provide an early indicator of neurocognitive decline. The diagnosis of MCI traditionally refers to the presence of a subjective cognitive complaint and objective impairment in one or more cognitive domain that is abnormal for one's age without functional impairment (Petersen, 2004). As such, individuals may qualify for an MCI diagnosis without the presence of objective retrospective memory impairment, in opposition to our societal view of neurodegeneration with memory impairment as a hallmark symptom. However, the inclusion of PM measures in neuropsychological evaluation may better capture the realworld experiences that patients tend to report to their primary care providers and shed light on another domain that could be a marker for MCI. This inclusion may also aide in the sensitivity of detecting functional decline, such as difficulty with medication adherence, which is more congruent with a major neurocognitive disorder or dementia diagnosis (Zogg et al., 2012). The current study highlighted the utility and sensitivity of the RPA as a performance-based PM measure that could distinguish between healthy older adults and older adults with sMCI to be used in neuropsychological evaluations.

The addition of informant reports of PM functioning should also be considered an important aspect of neuropsychological evaluation. The current study found that informants' reports of generalized PM functioning was significantly related to objective PM performance, and informants had more accurate task-specific PM predictions for the sMCI group. These findings highlight that informant reports may show greater sensitivity, specifically for task-specific PM, compared to reliance on self-reported functioning in cognitively impaired groups, which is largely in alignment with prior literature (Hickox et al., 1992; Sunderland et al., 1984). Additionally, the field of neuropsychology has valued a collateral source for initial intake interview in typical neuropsychological evaluations, making it feasible to add a short questionnaire to administer to these collateral sources, either by phone or in-person prior to the completion of a neuropsychological assessment. Therefore, the inclusion of the informant report with the addition of performance-based PM measures would provide a complementary and comprehensive view of PM functioning in a neuropsychological population (Sugden et al., 2021).

Beyond the realm of neuropsychological assessment, the current study's findings of impaired PM performance, impaired set-shifting performance, and impaired taskspecific meta-PM accuracies compared to a healthy older adult population provide several targets for intervention. The idea that cognitive training can protect or enhance neurocognitive function stems from the idea of neuroplasticity, which entails utilizing environmental factors to change the physical structure and function of the brain (Hertzog et al., 2008; Stern, 2009). A recent meta-analysis revealed a modest effect of cognitive training in improving older adults' cognitive function in more than 200 randomized

control trials, with a small-sized net-gain in cognition for healthy older adults (g = 0.28; Basak et al., 2020). Moreover, in this same meta-analysis, authors reported that training a single cognitive ability reliably benefited the trained ability in future tasks of a similar cognitive domain (i.e., near transfer effect); however, training of a single cognitive ability did not result in the benefit of cognitive domains beyond the one that was trained (i.e., far transfer effect; Basak et al., 2020). Therefore, cognitive remediation targeting several aspects of cognition including PM, EF, and meta-PM in the MCI population may result in better transfer effects to functional living than by providing training in PM alone.

Various targets for intervention should be considered for sMCI groups, as the current study found significantly lower performance on PM as a whole, but also on subcomponents of PM, such as time- and event-based PM, as well as on short-term laboratory-based PM tasks. Therefore, targets for intervention related to PM could include implementation of spaced retrieval practices, visual imagery, memory diaries, and digital calendars (Andrewes et al., 1996; Ozgis et al., 2009), which balance compensatory and restorative strategies. Moreover, a popular approach to PM intervention has been with implementation intentions, which represent an encoding method that requires verbal or visual repetition of intentions (i.e., "if situation X is encountered, then I will initiate Y goal-directed behavior"; Gollwitzer & Sheeran, 2006). One meta-analytic review found that implementation intentions had a medium to large effect size on PM performance (Chen et al., 2015), but far transfer effects have yet to be detected. Notably, one prior study aimed to enhance PM performance through executive control training (task-switching training), but they found no transfer effects to a real-life prospective memory task (i.e., blood pressure monitoring; Brom & Kliegel, 2014). The

only PM-specific training paradigm that has shown evidence of improvement in PM and transfer effects to PM in real-world contexts was in a large RCT utilizing integrated restorative and compensatory approaches (Henry et al., 2021).

A small number of studies have been conducted in clinical populations that target executive dysfunction as an area for intervention in PM. Most commonly, Goal Management Training (GMT; Levine et al., 2000) has been the gold standard intervention for EF deficits, as it teaches participants step-by-step strategies to monitor their actions, describe their goals, narrow their goals, and action their narrowed goals. Using this paradigm, participants are taught to interrupt an ongoing task in order to implement the action necessary for PM execution, as well as engage in repetition of goals periodically to maintain PM intentions (Fine et al., 2021). However, findings related to the effectiveness of GMT for PM have been mixed, especially in older adult populations (Henry et al., 2021). More specifically, this is likely a function of the heterogeneity of communitydwelling older adults, as well as the heterogeneity of older adults with an MCI diagnosis. For example, some individuals with an MCI diagnosis have more executive dysfunction than others with the same diagnosis, meaning that EF training could be helpful for PM success in some but unhelpful in others. Although the sMCI group in the current study displayed significantly worse EF performance compared to the healthy group, EF training, such as GMT, should be considered a target for PM intervention.

The final viable target for intervention, meta-PM accuracy, highlights the novel finding of this study. The current study revealed no difference in generalized/overall perceptions of PM function between healthy and sMCI groups but showed that there are important task-specific meta-PM inaccuracies in the sMCI group. The interpretation of

this finding is also more nuanced, as the sMCI group performed more accurately on the final two prompts of the RPA, after having to provide postdictions and reflect on one's performance on the first two prompts of the RPA. This performance pattern could reflect metacognitive calibration from having to reflect on performance for the first two RPA prompts before providing predictions for the last two RPA prompts, or a function of the first two PM tasks being lab-based and the last two being naturalistic. However, given Will and colleagues' (2009) findings that naturalistic and lab-based PM tasks are generally equivalent in cognitive impaired older adults, metacognitive intervention may provide a great benefit to this population.

The calibration that occurred from prediction to postdiction performance, as well as between the first two items and the last two items of the PM task suggest that metacognitive training may increase the likelihood of selecting appropriate compensatory strategies to better aide in future PM success. Moreover, metacognitive training does not have to require formal structure and could be combined with psychoeducation on compensatory strategy use. For example, clinicians could guide patients presenting for early intervention to be more reflective on their success in their PM tasks from day to day, recording on a Likert scale how well they did for each PM task throughout their day. Alternatively, patients could be given the directive to predict performance and postdict performance on daily PM activities, such as medication adherence. There are more formal structures of metacognitive training (e.g., "Goal, plan, do, review," etc.); however, introducing simple metacognitive techniques to existing psychoeducation about memory processes in a neuropsychological feedback setting would provide immediate access to

and knowledge of ways in which patients can start making real-time changes to their existing routines and boost their functional PM outcomes.

## **Limitations & Future Directions**

There are several limitations associated with the design of the current study that should not be overlooked. First and foremost, the study sample was derived from a rural, primarily white sample, rendering results potentially only generalizable to rural America. It is also imperative to discuss that these data were collected at the height of the COVID-19 pandemic with an at-risk population. Therefore, those who chose to participate in this study at that time may represent a different demographic than those who declined participation due to safety. As a result, this particular sample of both healthy and sMCI older adults may be restricted in generalizability to populations who have higher risk tolerance, and it is unclear how this demographic would generalize nationally. Moreover, as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the sample size for the sMCI group was four participants short of meeting criteria obtained from the *a priori* power analysis, leaving this group potentially underpowered. However, given the large effect sizes of most of the findings, the addition of the final four participants may not have substantially changed the results. Notably, the effect size for the sMCI group on generalized meta-PM accuracy findings was non-trivial, and if the effect was in fact small, the sMCI group may have been underpowered to detect this effect. Similarly, informant participation was likely underpowered, as the response rate from informants were substantially less than the number of participants in the study, therefore, requiring caution when interpreting informant results. However, significance was found with the informant group, and therefore may represent reliable results.

Importantly, many of the hospital-recruited older adults with existing MCI diagnoses had a significant amount of time between their neuropsychological evaluation that resulted in their diagnosis and the point at which they completed the study. While a large percentage of individuals remain in the MCI diagnostic range for several years or revert to a normal cognitive status, some patients with MCI, particularly of the amnestic type, have a higher risk to progress to more functionally impaired diagnoses, such as Alzheimer's Disease (Albert et al., 2011). Moreover, a distinction between amnestic and non-amnestic forms of MCI was not obtained, leading to less study specificity. Although it's crucial to acknowledge that the current study's sMCI participant group was largely characteristic of most MCI groups with heterogeneous cognitive presentations, results may have differed if the sMCI group was broken into amnestic, non-amnestic, and mixed, as literature has indicated that amnestic MCI is more related to objective impairments in all cognitive domains with higher probability of conversion to dementia, while nonamnestic MCI groups may only display impairment in a singular domain, such as EF (Espinosa et al., 2013).

Given the heterogeneous recruitment of the sMCI sample, it was also imperative to consider that differences could exist between the sMCI participants that were hospitalrecruited versus community-recruited. Given this concern, our analyses suggested that the hospital-recruited sMCI group performed significantly worse on the MMSE and functional PM tasks measured by the RPA (though not all subscales of the RPA). Conversely, the hospital and community-recruited sMCI groups performed equivalently on all aspects of self-reported PM, EF measures, and on generalized and task-specific measures of meta-PM accuracy. These data suggest that the hospital-recruited sMCI

group may be slightly more functionally impacted in areas of PM; however, EF and meta-PM abilities were not functionally different than the community-recruited sMCI participants. These patterns of performance may highlight the important distinction between those who feel their memory is poor enough in their daily lives to seek medical attention and those that are not yet observing substantial of memory impairment in their daily lives, even though functional differences were still apparent when compared to a healthy population. Though this was not a target of the current study, more work determining the spectrum of sMCI presentations would be beneficial to explore.

Measure-based limitations also existed within the current study in a variety of ways. First, although neurocognitive status was a top priority of the study, the MMSE was used for differentiation of healthy versus sMCI status in community-recruited older adults, even though the MoCA would have been a more sensitive cognitive screener to detect MCI (Wojtowicz & Larner, 2017). The MMSE was utilized in this study due to it being the measure of choice in the overarching database from which the community-recruited participants were drawn. Moreover, the current study did not administer a full neuropsychological battery, therefore limiting knowledge on how the current study's sMCI sample fared in comparison to other MCI samples.

To add to assessment limitations, the current study could have included psychological screeners in the design to account for state-based symptom presentation and how current psychological symptoms may have influenced the study's results. Nevertheless, the presence of psychological diagnoses and histories were obtained on the demographics questionnaire, and analyses revealed that the presence of psychological comorbidities did not change the results of the study's findings. Furthermore, the current

study did not measure retrospective memory performance, beyond that of which was selfreported, limiting the ability to compare PM and retrospective memory processes in these populations. Additionally, the RPA, the measure of objective PM functioning, allows participants to utilize "any method" to help them remember to complete the PM tasks being assessed. Although this is reflective of real-world PM contexts, the use of written notes and reminders could have influenced the study findings via the healthy group utilizing their resources more efficiently than the sMCI group. Though this is diagnostic in and of itself, the restriction of such external aide usage could have led to more pure memory comparisons between groups. Lastly, the study's results were most significant for lab-based items which may not represent more naturalistic, real-world performance and may over-pathologize the sMCI group. Literature has indicated that lab-based and naturalistic designs of PM are often comparable (Will et al., 2009), but it is a factor for which caution should be taken.

Future studies in meta-PM accuracy in these populations should attempt to address the limitations listed above. Additionally, the current study collected data on memory aide usage and self-efficacy. Since these variables were not a primary aim of the study, a follow-up study incorporating these variables will be pursued. Moreover, the inclusion of retrospective memory measures would clarify the study results and provide more concrete conclusions. However, as it stands, these data could be utilized to inform a randomized clinical trial of a metacognitive intervention using predictions and postdictions for PM performance as a means of early intervention. It is suggested that a longitudinal design be implemented to track progression of MCI status, informing if metacognitive training could potentially prolong the onset of cognitive decline.

#### References

Albert, M. S., DeKosky, S. T., Dickson, D., Dubois, B., Feldman, H. H., Fox, N. C., Gamst, A., Holtzman, D. M., Jagust, W. J., Petersen, R. C., Snyder, P. J., Carrillo, M. C., Thies, B., & Phelps, C. H. (2011). The diagnosis of mild cognitive impairment due to Alzheimer's disease: Recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, 7(3), 270–279. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2011.03.008

American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* (Fifth).

Andrewes, D. G., Kinsella, G., & Murphy, M. (1996). Using a memory handbook to improve everyday memory in community-dwelling older adults with memory complaints. *Experimental Aging Research*, 22(3), 305–322. https://doi.org/10.1080/03610739608254013

Arnold, N. R., Bayen, U. J., & Smith, R. E. (2015). Hierarchical Multinomial Modeling Approaches. *Experimental Psychology*, 62(3), 143–152. https://doi.org/10.1027/1618-3169/a000287

- Bäckman, L., Jones, S., Berger, A. K., Laukka, E. J., & Small, B. J. (2005). Cognitive impairment in preclinical Alzheimer's disease: A meta-analysis. *Neuropsychology*, 19(4), 520–531. https://doi.org/10.1037/0894-4105.19.4.520
- Baron, R. M., & Kenny, D. A. (1986). The moderator-mediator variable distinction in social psychological research: Conceptual, strategic, and statistical considerations. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 51(6), 1173.

- Basak, C., Qin, S., & O'Connell, M. A. (2020). Differential effects of cognitive training modules in healthy aging and mild cognitive impairment: A comprehensive metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. *Psychology and Aging*, 35(2), 220–249. https://doi.org/10.1037/pag0000442
- Best, J. R., & Miller, P. H. (2010). A Developmental Perspective on Executive Function.
   *Child Development*, 81(6), 1641–1660. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2010.01499.x
- Bowie, C. R., & Harvey, P. D. (2006). Administration and interpretation of the Trail Making Test. *Nature Protocols*, 1(5), 2277–2281. https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2006.390
- Brom, S. S., & Kliegel, M. (2014). Improving everyday prospective memory performance in older adults: Comparing cognitive process and strategy training. *Psychology and Aging*, 29(3), 744–755. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0037181
- Cepeda, N. J., Kramer, A. F., & Gonzalez de Sather, J. C. M. (2001). Changes in executive control across the life span: Examination of task-switching performance. *Developmental Psychology*, 37(5), 715–730. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.37.5.715
- Chen, X. jie, Wang, Y., Liu, L. lu, Cui, J. fang, Gan, M. yuan, Shum, D. H. K., & Chan, R. C. K. (2015). The effect of implementation intention on prospective memory: A systematic and meta-analytic review. *Psychiatry Research*, 226(1), 14–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2015.01.011
- Cohen, J. (2013). *Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences*. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203771587

Correa, D. D., Graves, R. E., & Costa, L. (1996). Awareness of memory deficit in alzheimer's disease patients and memory-impaired older adults. *Aging, Neuropsychology, and Cognition*, 3(3), 215–228. https://doi.org/10.1080/13825589608256625

Costa, A., Caltagirone, C., & Carlesimo, G. A. (2011). Prospective memory impairment in mild cognitive impairment: An analytical review. *Neuropsychology Review*, 21(4), 390–404. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11065-011-9172-z

- Costa, A., Peppe, A., Zabberoni, S., Serafini, F., Barban, F., Scalici, F., Caltagirone, C., & Carlesimo, G. A. (2015). Prospective memory performance in individuals with parkinson's disease who have mild cognitive impairment. *Neuropsychology*, 29(5), 782–791. https://doi.org/10.1037/neu0000184
- Costa, A., Perri, R., Serra, L., Barban, F., Gatto, I., Zabberoni, S., Caltagirone, C., & Carlesimo, G. A. (2010). Prospective memory functioning in mild cognitive impairment. *Neuropsychology*, 24(3), 327–335. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018015
- Crawford, J. R., Henry, J. D., Ward, A. L., & Blake, J. (2006). The Prospective and Retrospective Memory Questionnaire (PRMQ): latent structure, normative data and discrepancy analysis for proxy-ratings. *The British Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 45(Pt 1), 83–104. https://doi.org/10.1348/014466505X28748
- Crawford, J., Smith, G., Maylor, E., Della Sala, S., & Logie, R. (2003). The Prospective and Retrospective Memory Questionnaire (PRMQ): Normative data and latent structure in a large non-clinical sample. *Memory*, 11(3), 261–275. https://doi.org/10.1080/09658210244000027

Creavin, S. T., Wisniewski, S., Noel-Storr, A. H., Trevelyan, C. M., Hampton, T.,

Rayment, D., Thom, V. M., Nash, K. J. E., Elhamoui, H., Milligan, R., Patel, A. S.,
Tsivos, D. V, Wing, T., Phillips, E., Kellman, S. M., Shackleton, H. L., Singleton,
G. F., Neale, B. E., Watton, M. E., & Cullum, S. (2016). Mini-Mental State
Examination (MMSE) for the detection of dementia in clinically unevaluated people
aged 65 and over in community and primary care populations. *Cochrane Database*of Systematic Reviews, 105(1–2), 49–57.

https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD011145.pub2

- Crum, R. M., Anthony, J. C., & Bassett, S. S. (1993). Population-Based Norms for the Mini-Mental State Examination by Age and Educational Level. *JAMA: The Journal* of the American Medical Association, 269(18), 2386. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.1993.03500180078038
- De Luca, C. R., Wood, S. J., Anderson, V., Buchanan, J.-A., Proffitt, T. M., Mahony, K.,
  & Pantelis, C. (2003). Normative Data From the Cantab. I: Development of
  Executive Function Over the Lifespan. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, 25(2), 242–254. https://doi.org/10.1076/jcen.25.2.242.13639
- Dunlosky, J., & Lipko, A. R. (2007). Metacomprehension: A brief history and how to improve its accuracy. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 16(4), 228–232. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8721.2007.00509.x
- Einstein, G. O., & McDaniel, M. A. (1990). Normal aging and prospective memory. Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition, 16(4), 717–726. https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-7393.16.4.717
- Einstein, G. O., & McDaniel, M. A. (2005). Prospective memory: Multiple retrieval processes. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, *14*(6), 286–290.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0963-7214.2005.00382.x

Einstein, G. O., McDaniel, M. A., Richardson, S. L., Guynn, M. J., & Cunfer, A. R. (1995). Aging and Prospective Memory: Examining the Influences of Self-Initiated Retrieval Processes. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition*, 21(4), 996–1007. https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-7393.21.4.996

Ellis, J., & Kvavilashvili, L. (2000). Prospective memory in 2000: Past, present, and future directions. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 14(7), S1–S9. https://doi.org/10.1002/acp.767

Espinosa, A., Alegret, M., Valero, S., Vinyes-Junqué, G., Hernández, I., Mauleón, A.,
Rosende-Roca, M., Ruiz, A., López, O., Tárraga, L., & Boada, M. (2013). A
Longitudinal Follow-Up of 550 Mild Cognitive Impairment Patients: Evidence for
Large Conversion to Dementia Rates and Detection of Major Risk Factors Involved. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, 34(3), 769–780. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD122002

Farias, S. T., Cahn-Weiner, D. A., Harvey, D. J., Reed, B. R., Mungas, D., Kramer, J. H.,
& Chui, H. (2009). Longitudinal Changes in Memory and Executive Functioning are
Associated with longitudinal change in instrumental activities of daily living in older
Adults. *The Clinical Neuropsychologist*, 23(3), 446–461.
https://doi.org/10.1080/13854040802360558

Fine, L., Loft, S., Bucks, R. S., Parker, D., Laws, M., Olaithe, M., Pushpanathan, M.,
Rainey Smith, S. R., Sohrabi, H. R., Martins, R. N., & Weinborn, M. (2021).
Improving Prospective Memory Performance in Community-dwelling Older Adults:
Goal Management Training and Implementation Intentions. *Experimental Aging*

Research, 47(5), 414–435. https://doi.org/10.1080/0361073X.2021.1876409

- Flavell, J. H. (1979). Metacognition and cognitive monitoring: A new area of cognitivedevelopmental inquiry. *American Psychologist*, 34(10), 906–911. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.34.10.906
- Folstein, M. F., Folstein, S. E., & McHugh, P. R. (1975). "Mini-mental state": a practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 12(3), 189–198.
- Fortuny, L. i A., & Heaton, R. K. (1996a). Standard versus computerized administration of the wisconsin card sorting test. *The Clinical Neuropsychologist*, 10(4), 419–424. https://doi.org/10.1080/13854049608406702
- Fortuny, L. i A., & Heaton, R. K. (1996b). Standard versus computerized administration of the wisconsin card sorting test. *The Clinical Neuropsychologist*, 10(4), 419–424. https://doi.org/10.1080/13854049608406702
- Gilbert, S. J., & Burgess, P. W. (2008). Executive function. *Current Biology*, *18*(3), R110–R114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2007.12.014
- Golden, C. J. (1978). The Stroop Color and Word Test: A manual for clinical and experimental uses. Stoelting.

Gollwitzer, P. M., & Sheeran, P. (2006). Implementation Intentions and Goal Achievement: A Meta-analysis of Effects and Processes (pp. 69–119). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2601(06)38002-1

Grant, D. A., & Berg, E. (1948). A behavioral analysis of degree of reinforcement and ease of shifting to new responses in a Weigl-type card-sorting problem. *Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 38(4), 404–411. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0059831

- Guynn, M. J. (2008). Theory of monitoring in prospective memory: Instantiating a retrieval mode and periodic target checking. In *Prospective memory: Cognitive, neuroscience, developmental, and applied perspectives2* (pp. 53–76). Taylor & Francis Group/Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Halamish, V., McGillivray, S., & Castel, A. D. (2011). Monitoring One's Own Forgetting in Younger and Older Adults. *Psychology and Aging*, 26(3), 631–635. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0022852
- Harris, J. E. (1983). Remembering to do things: A forgotten topic. In J. E. Harris & P. E.
  Morris (Eds.), *Everyday memory, actions, and absentmindedness* (pp. 71–92).
  Academic Press.
- Henry, J. D., Hering, A., Haines, S., Grainger, S. A., Koleits, N., McLennan, S., Pelly, R., Doyle, C., Rose, N. S., Kliegel, M., & Rendell, P. G. (2021). Acting with the future in mind: Testing competing prospective memory interventions. *Psychology and Aging*, 36(4), 491–503. https://doi.org/10.1037/pag0000593
- Henry, J. D., MacLeod, M. S., Phillips, L. H., & Crawford, J. R. (2004). A Meta-Analytic Review of Prospective Memory and Aging. *Psychology and Aging*, 19(1), 27–39. https://doi.org/10.1037/0882-7974.19.1.27
- Hertzog, C., Kramer, A. F., Wilson, R. S., & Lindenberger, U. (2008). Enrichment Effects on Adult Cognitive Development. *Psychological Science in the Public Interest*, 9(1), 1–65. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1539-6053.2009.01034.x
- Hickox, A., Sunderland, A., & Crawford, J. R. (1992). A handbook of neuropsychological assessment.
- Hsu, Y. H., Huang, C. F., Tu, M. C., & Hua. (2014). The clinical utility of informants'

appraisals on prospective and retrospective memory in patients with early Alzheimer's disease. *PLoS ONE*, *9*(11), 5–12. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0112210

Ivnik, R. J., Malec, J. F., Smith, G. E., Tangalos, E. G., & Petersen, R. C. (1996).
Neuropsychological tests' norms above age 55: COWAT, BNT, MAE token,
WRAT-R reading, AMNART, STROOP, TMT, and JLO. *The Clinical Neuropsychologist*, *10*(3), 262–278. https://doi.org/10.1080/13854049608406689

- Kinsella, G. J., Pike, K. E., Cavuoto, M. G., & Lee, S. D. (2018). Mild cognitive impairment and prospective memory: translating the evidence into neuropsychological practice. *The Clinical Neuropsychologist*, *32*(5), 960–980. https://doi.org/10.1080/13854046.2018.1468926
- Kliegel, M., Eschen, A., & Thöne-Otto, A. I. T. (2004). Planning and realization of complex intentions in traumatic brain injury and normal aging. *Brain and Cognition*, 56(1), 43–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandc.2004.05.005
- Kliegel, M., Mackinlay, R., & Jäger, T. (2008a). A life-span approach to the development of complex prospective memory. In *Prospective memory: Cognitive, neuroscience, developmental, and applied perspectives* (pp. 187–216). Taylor & Francis Group/Lawrence Erlbaum Associates. https://psycnet.apa.org/record/2007-15727-009
- Kliegel, M., Mackinlay, R., & Jäger, T. (2008b). Complex prospective memory:
  Development across the lifespan and the role of task interruption. *Developmental Psychology*, 44(2), 612–617. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.44.2.612
- Kliegel, M., Martin, M., McDaniel, M. A., & Einstein, G. O. (2002). Complex
prospective memory and executive control of working memory: A process model. *Psychologische Beitrage*, *44*(2), 303–319.

- Kvavilashvili, L. (1992). Remembering intentions: A critical review of existing experimental paradigms. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 6(6), 507–524. https://doi.org/10.1002/acp.2350060605
- Levine, B., Robertson, I. H., Clare, L., Carter, G., Hong, J., Wilson, B. A., Duncan, J., & Stuss, D. T. (2000). Rehabilitation of executive functioning: An experimental–clinical validation of Goal Management Training. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, *6*(3), S1355617700633052.
  https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355617700633052

Lopez, M. N., Charter, R. A., Mostafavi, B., Nibut, L. P., & Smith, W. E. (2005).
 Psychometric Properties of the Folstein Mini-Mental State Examination.
 Assessment, 12(2), 137–144. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073191105275412

- Maki, R. H., Willmon, C., & Pietan, A. (2009). Basis of metamemory judgments for text with multiple-choice, essay and recall tests. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 23(2), 204–222. https://doi.org/10.1002/acp.1440
- Mäntylä, T., Rönnlund, M., & Kliegel, M. (2010). Components of executive functioning in metamemory. *Applied Neuropsychology*, 17(4), 289–298. https://doi.org/10.1080/09084282.2010.525090
- Martin, M., Kliegel, M., & McDaniel, M. A. (2003). The involvement of executive functions in prospective memory performance of adults. *International Journal of Psychology*, 38(4), 195–206. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207590344000123

McDaniel, M. A., & Einstein, G. O. (2011). The neuropsychology of prospective memory

in normal aging: A componential approach. *Neuropsychologia*, 49(8), 2147–2155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2010.12.029

- McDaniel, M. A., Glisky, E. L., Guynn, M. J., & Routhieaux, B. C. (1999). Prospective memory: A neuropsychological study. *Neuropsychology*, 13(1), 103–110. https://doi.org/10.1037/0894-4105.13.1.103
- McDaniel, M. A., Guynn, M. J., Einstein, G. O., Breneiser, J., Guynn, M. J., Breneiser, J., Einstein, G. O., & Breneiser, J. (2004). Cue-Focused and Reflexive-Associative Processes in Prospective Memory Retrieval. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition, 30*(3), 605–614. https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-7393.30.3.605
- McDonald-Miszczak, L., Gould, O. N., & Tychynski, D. (1999). Metamemory Predictors of Prospective and Retrospective Memory Performance. *The Journal of General Psychology*, *126*(1), 37–52. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221309909595350
- McDonald, C. R., Gharapetian, L., McEvoy, L. K., Fennema-Notestine, C., Hagler, D. J., Holland, D., & Dale, A. M. (2012). Relationship between regional atrophy rates and cognitive decline in mild cognitive impairment. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 33(2), 242– 253. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2010.03.015

Meeks, T. J., Hicks, J. L., Marsh, R. L., Thadeus Meeks, J., Hicks, J. L., & Marsh, R. L. (2007). Metacognitive awareness of event-based prospective memory. *Consciousness and Cognition*, 16(4), 997–1004. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.concog.2006.09.005

Meier, B., von Wartburg, P., Matter, S., Rothen, N., & Reber, R. (2011). Performance predictions improve prospective memory and influence retrieval experience.

Canadian Journal of Experimental Psychology/Revue Canadienne de Psychologie Expérimentale, 65(1), 12–18. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0022784

- Meltzer, L. (2018). *Executive function in education: From theory to practice* (2nd ed.). The Guilford Press.
- Miyake, A., & Friedman, N. P. (2012). The Nature and Organization of Individual
  Differences in Executive Functions. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 21(1), 8–14. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721411429458
- Miyake, A., Friedman, N. P., Emerson, M. J., Witzki, A. H., Howerter, A., & Wager, T. D. (2000). The Unity and Diversity of Executive Functions and Their Contributions to Complex "Frontal Lobe" Tasks: A Latent Variable Analysis. *Cognitive Psychology*, *41*(1), 49–100. https://doi.org/10.1006/cogp.1999.0734
- Morris, C. D., Bransford, J. D., & Franks, J. J. (1977). Levels of processing versus transfer appropriate processing. *Journal of Verbal Learning and Verbal Behavior*, *16*(5), 519–533. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-5371(77)80016-9
- Nelson, T. O., & Narens, L. (1990). Metamemory: A theoretical framework and some new findings. In G. H. Bower (Ed.), *The Psychology of Learning and Motivation1* (pp. 125–173). Academic Press.
- Ozgis, S., Rendell, P. G., & Henry, J. D. (2009). Spaced retrieval significantly improves prospective memory performance of cognitively impaired older adults. *Gerontology*, 55(2), 229–232. https://doi.org/10.1159/000163446
- Petersen, R. C. (2004). Mild cognitive impairment as a diagnostic entity. *Journal of Internal Medicine*, 256(3), 183–194. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2796.2004.01388.x

Rabin, L. A., Chi, S. Y., Wang, C., Fogel, J., Kann, S. J., & Aronov, A. (2014).

Prospective memory on a novel clinical task in older adults with mild cognitive impairment and subjective cognitive decline. *Neuropsychological Rehabilitation*, *24*(6), 868–893. https://doi.org/10.1080/09602011.2014.915855

Radford, K. A., Lah, S., Say, M. J., & Miller, L. A. (2011). Validation of a New Measure of Prospective Memory: The Royal Prince Alfred Prospective Memory Test. *The Clinical Neuropsychologist*, 25(1), 127–140.

https://doi.org/10.1080/13854046.2010.529463

Reitan, R. M. (1958). Validity of the Trail Making Test as an Indicator of Organic Brain Damage. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, 8(3), 271–276. https://doi.org/10.2466/pms.1958.8.3.271

- Reitan, R. M., & Wolfson, D. (1986). The Halstead-Reitan Neuropsychological Test
  Battery. In *The neuropsychology handbook: Behavioral and clinical perspectives*.
  (pp. 134–160). Springer Publishing Co.
- Schmitter-Edgecombe, M., Woo, E., & Greeley, D. R. (2009). Characterizing multiple memory deficits and their relation to everyday functioning in individuals with mild cognitive impairment. *Neuropsychology*, 23(2), 168–177. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0014186

Schoenberg, M. R., & Duff, K. (2011). Dementias and Mild Cognitive Impairment in

Schnitzspahn, K. M., Stahl, C., Zeintl, M., Kaller, C. P., & Kliegel, M. (2013). The role of shifting, updating, and inhibition in prospective memory performance in young and older adults. *Developmental Psychology*, 49(8), 1544–1553. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0030579

Adults. In *The Little Black Book of Neuropsychology* (pp. 357–403). Springer US. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-76978-3\_14

- Shimamura, A. P. (2000). The role of the prefrontal cortex in dynamic filtering. *Psychobiology*, *28*(2), 207–218. https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03331979
- Shimamura, A. P. (2008). A neurocognitive approach to metacognitive monitoring and control. In J. Dunlosky & R. A. Bjork (Eds.), *Handbook of Memory and Metacognition* (pp. 373–390).
- Smith, G., Del Sala, S., Logie, R. H., & Maylor, E. A. (2000). Prospective and retrospective memory in normal ageing and dementia: A questionnaire study. *Memory*, 8(5), 311–321. https://doi.org/10.1080/09658210050117735
- Smith, R. E. (2003). The cost of remembering to remember in event-based prospective memory: Investigating the capacity demands of delayed intention performance. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition, 29*(3), 347–361. https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-7393.29.3.347
- Smith, R. E. (2008). Connecting the past and the future: Attention, memory, and delayed intentions. In M. Kliegel, M. A. McDaniel, & G. O. Einstein (Eds.), *Prospective memory: Cognitive, neuroscience, developmental, and applied perspectives* (pp. 29– 52). Taylor & Francis Group/Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Smith, R. E., & Bayen, U. J. (2004). A Multinomial Model of Event-Based Prospective Memory. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition*, 30(4), 756–777. https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-7393.30.4.756
- Smith, R. E., & Bayen, U. J. (2005). The Effects of Working Memory Resource Availability on Prospective Memory. *Experimental Psychology*, 52(4), 243–256.

https://doi.org/10.1027/1618-3169.52.4.243

Smith, R. E., & Bayen, U. J. (2006). The source of adult age differences in event-based prospective memory: A multinomial modeling approach. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition*, 32(3), 623–635. https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-7393.32.3.623

Smith, R. E., Hunt, R. R., McVay, J. C., & McConnell, M. D. (2007). The cost of eventbased prospective memory: Salient target events. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition*, 33(4), 734–746. https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-7393.33.4.734

- Souchay, C., Isingrini, M., Pillon, B., & Gil, R. (2003). Metamemory accuracy in Alzheimer's disease and frontotemporal lobe dementia. *Neurocase*, 9(6), 482–492. https://doi.org/10.1076/neur.9.6.482.29376
- Spíndola, L., & Brucki, S. M. D. (2011). Prospective memory in Alzheimer's disease and Mild Cognitive Impairment. *Dementia & Neuropsychologia*, 5(2), 64–68. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1980-57642011DN05020002
- Spreen, O., & Strauss, E. (1991). Controlled oral word association (word fluency). In *A compendium of neuropsychological tests* (pp. 219–227).
- Stern, Y. (2009). Cognitive reserve. Neuropsychologia, 47(10), 2015–2028. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2009.03.004
- Sugden, N., Thomas, M., & Kiernan, M. (2021). A scoping review of the utility of selfreport and informant-report prospective memory measures. *Neuropsychological Rehabilitation*, 1–31. https://doi.org/10.1080/09602011.2021.1875851
- Sunderland, A., Harris, J. E., & Baddeley, A. D. (1984). Everyday memory, actions and

absent mindedness. In *Assessing everyday memory after severe head injury*. (pp. 191–206).

Tabachnick, B., & Fidell, L. (2012). Using multivariate statistics (6th ed.). Pearson.

Thompson, C. L., Henry, J. D., Rendell, P. G., Withall, A., & Brodaty, H. (2015). How Valid Are Subjective Ratings of Prospective Memory in Mild Cognitive Impairment and Early Dementia? *Gerontology*, 61(3), 251–257. https://doi.org/10.1159/000371347

Troyer, A. K., & Murphy, K. J. (2007). Memory for intentions in amnestic mild cognitive impairment: Time- and event-based prospective memory. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, *13*(02), P19–P27. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355617707070452

- van den Berg, E., Kant, N., & Postma, A. (2012). Remember to buy milk on the way home! A meta-analytic review of prospective memory in mild cognitive impairment and dementia. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, *18*(4), 706– 716. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355617712000331
- Vannini, P., Hanseeuw, B., Munro, C. E., Amariglio, R. E., Marshall, G. A., Rentz, D. M., Pascual-Leone, A., Johnson, K. A., & Sperling, R. A. (2017). Anosognosia for memory deficits in mild cognitive impairment: Insight into the neural mechanism using functional and molecular imaging. *NeuroImage: Clinical*, *15*, 408–414. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nicl.2017.05.020
- West, R. L., Bagwell, D. K., & Dark-Freudeman, A. (2008). Self-Efficacy and Memory Aging: The Impact of a Memory Intervention Based on Self-Efficacy. *Aging, Neuropsychology, and Cognition*, 15(3), 302–329.

https://doi.org/10.1080/13825580701440510

- Will, C. M., Rendell, P. G., Ozgis, S., Pierson, J. M., Ong, B., & Henry, J. D. (2009).
  Cognitively impaired older adults exhibit comparable difficulties on naturalistic and laboratory prospective memory tasks. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 23(6), 804–812. https://doi.org/10.1002/acp.1514
- Wojtowicz, A., & Larner, A. J. (2017). Diagnostic test accuracy of cognitive screeners in older people. *Progress in Neurology and Psychiatry*, 21(1), 17–21. https://doi.org/10.1002/pnp.457
- Wooten, J. M. (2015). Rules for Improving Pharmacotherapy in Older Adult Patients: Part 1 (Rules 1–5). Southern Medical Journal, 108(2), 97–104. https://doi.org/10.14423/SMJ.00000000000243
- Zelazo, P. D., Craik, F. I. ., & Booth, L. (2004). Executive function across the life span. *Acta Psychologica*, *115*(2–3), 167–183. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actpsy.2003.12.005
- Zogg, J. B., Woods, S. P., Sauceda, J. A., Wiebe, J. S., & Simoni, J. M. (2012). The role of prospective memory in medication adherence: A review of an emerging literature. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 35(1), 47–62. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10865-011-9341-9

## Appendix A



Nelson & Narens' (1990) Model of Metacognition

*Figure 1*. Model of cognitive monitoring and control proposed by Nelson & Narens (1990).

## Appendix B

Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE)

# Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE)

Patient's Name:

Date: \_\_\_\_\_

<u>Instructions:</u> Ask the questions in the order listed. Score one point for each correct response within each question or activity.

Maximum Score	Patient's Score	Questions
5		"What is the year? Season? Date? Day of the week? Month?"
5		"Where are we now: State? County? Town/city? Hospital? Floor?"
3		The examiner names three unrelated objects clearly and slowly, then asks the patient to name all three of them. The patient's response is used for scoring. The examiner repeats them until patient learns all of them, if possible. Number of trials:
5		"I would like you to count backward from 100 by sevens." (93, 86, 79, 72, 65,) Stop after five answers. Alternative: "Spell WORLD backwards." (D-L-R-O-W)
3		"Earlier I told you the names of three things. Can you tell me what those were?"
2		Show the patient two simple objects, such as a wristwatch and a pencil, and ask the patient to name them.
1		"Repeat the phrase: 'No ifs, ands, or buts."
3		"Take the paper in your right hand, fold it in half, and put it on the floor." (The examiner gives the patient a piece of blank paper.)
1		"Please read this and do what it says." (Written instruction is "Close your eyes.")
1		"Make up and write a sentence about anything." (This sentence must contain a noun and a verb.)
1		"Please copy this picture." (The examiner gives the patient a blank piece of paper and asks him/her to draw the symbol below. All 10 angles must be present and two must intersect.)
30		TOTAL

(Adapted from Rovner & Folstein, 1987)

### Appendix C

### Prospective and Retrospective Memory Questionnaire (PRMQ)

# **REMEMBERING TO DO THINGS**

Prospective-Retrospective Memory Questionnaire as described in:

Smith, G., Della Sala, S., Logie, R.H. & Maylor, E.A. (2000). Prospective and Retrospective Memory in Normal Aging and Dementia: A Questionnaire Study. *Memory*, 8, 311-321.

In order to understand why people make memory mistakes, we need to find out about the kinds of mistakes people make, and how often they are made in normal everyday life. We would like you to tell us how often these kind of things happen to you. Please indicate by ticking the appropriate box.

Please make sure you answer all of the questions on both sides of the sheet even if they don't seem entirely applicable to your situation.

Please provide the following details about yourself.	Age	 Male/Female
How many year of formal education have you had?		
Have you suffered from brain or head injury resulting in hospitalisat	tion (Y/N)	
Please give brief details		

Please answer all of the questions as accurately as possible.

	Very Often	Quite Often	Sometimes	Rarely	Never
Do you decide to do something in a few minutes' time and then forget to do it?					
Do you fail to recognise a place you have visited before?					
Do you fail to do something you were supposed to do a few minutes later even though it's there in front of you, like take a pill or turn off the kettle?					

(continued on next page)

	Very Often	Quite Often	Sometimes	Rarely	Never
Do you forget something that you were told a few minutes before?					
Do you forget appointments if you are not prompted by someone else or by a reminder such as a calendar or diary?					
Do you fail to recognise a character in a radio or television show from scene to scene?					
Do you forget to buy something you planned to buy, like a birthday card, even when you see the shop?					
Do you fail to recall things that have happened to you in the last few days?					
Do you repeat the same story to the same person on different occasions?					
Do you intend to take something with you, before leaving a room or going out, but minutes later leave it behind, even though it's there in front of you?					
Do you mislay something that you have just put down, like a magazine or glasses?					
Do you fail to mention or give something to a visitor that you were asked to pass on?					
Do you look at something without realising you have seen it moments before?					
If you tried to contact a friend or relative who was out, would you forget to try again later?					
Do you forget what you watched on television the previous day?					
Do you forget to tell someone something you had meant to mention a few minutes ago?					

### Appendix D

Prospective and Retrospective Memory Questionnaire Proxy (PRMQ-Proxy)

### **Remembering Things To Do**

In order to understand why people make memory mistakes, we need to find out about the kinds of mistakes people make and how often they are made in normal everyday life. We would like you to tell us how often these kinds of things happen to your loved one. Please make sure you answer all of the questions, even if they don' seem entirely applicable to your loved one's situation.

1.	Do they decide to	do something in a few mi	nutes time and forget to do it?
	2	0	0

	Very Often Quite Often Sometimes Rarely Never
2.	Do they fail to recognize a place they have visited before?
	Very Often Quite Often Sometimes Rarely Never
3.	Do they fail to do something they were supposed to do a few minutes later even though it is there in front of them, like take a pill or turn off the kettle?
	Very Often Quite Often Sometimes Rarely Never
4.	Do they forget something they were told a few minutes before?
	Very Often Quite Often Sometimes Rarely Never
5.	Do they forget appointments if they are not prompted by someone else or by a reminder such as a calendar or diary?
	Very Often Quite Often Sometimes Rarely Never
6.	Do they fail to recognize a character in a radio or television show from scene to scene?
	Very Often Quite Often Sometimes Rarely Never
7.	Do they forget to buy something they planned to buy, like a birthday card, even when they see the shop?
	Very Often Quite Often Sometimes Rarely Never

(Continued on next page)

8. Do they fail to recall things that have happened to them in the last few days?
Very Often Quite Often Sometimes Rarely Never
9. Do they repeat the same story to the same person on different occasions?
Very Often Quite Often Sometimes Rarely Never
10. Do they intend to take something with them, before leaving a room or going out, but minutes later leave it behind, even though it is there in front of them?
Very Often Quite Often Sometimes Rarely Never
11. Do they mislay something that they have just put down, like a magazine or glasses?
Very Often Quite Often Sometimes Rarely Never
12. Do they fail to mention or give something to a visitor that they were asked to pass on?
Very Often Quite Often Sometimes Rarely Never
13. Do they look at something without realizing they have seen it moments before?
Very Often Quite Often Sometimes Rarely Never
14. If they tried to contact a friend or relative who was out, would they forget to try again later?
Very Often Quite Often Sometimes Rarely Never
15. Do they forget what they watched on television the previous day?
Very Often Quite Often Sometimes Rarely Never
16. Do they forget to tell someone something they had meant to mention a few minutes ago?
Very Often Quite Often Sometimes Rarely Never

Appendix E: Royal Prince Alfred Prospective Memory Test (RPA)

RPA-ProMem Royal Prince Alfred Prospective Memory Test	ID	
FORM 1	Date	

Instructions: "As I mentioned before, today we will be doing some tasks to test certain areas such as your memory and attention. Firstly, I am going to ask you to remember to do some things at a later stage of the assessment. You can use any techniques that you think might help you remember these things."

#### START TIME:

#### Part 1 and Part 2

"I am going to leave this clock here where you can see it. In 15 minutes time, I would like you to tell me it's time for a coffee break. Do this as close to 15 minutes' time as you can. The other thing I would like you to do, at the end of our session today, is to ask me for an information sheet on note-taking strategies." (*Place digital clock in subject's direct view*).

Verify encoding of instructions and repeat if necessary

#### Part 1 (Short-term, Time-based)

SUBJECT'S RESPONSE:	
	TIME:
Part 2 (Short-term, Event-based)	
TIME OF TARGET EVENT:	(i.e., time session ends; time alarm or phone rings)
SUBJECT'S RESPONSE:	
	TIME:

#### Part 3 and Part 4

Instructions [administered at end of session]: "I am going to ask you to do some more things after we are finished today. You can use any method that will help you to remember to do the things I ask you to do. It is important that you try your best to remember".

"Firstly, when you arrive home today, I want you to phone and leave a message on my voice mail, telling me what the weather is like. The number is [insert appropriate #]. The second thing I would like you to do this week is to return this postcard to me on [date to be posted, one week from now] with your name and the word HAWAII written on the postcard. Will you be able to do this on that day? [If not, plan another day]" (Make sure it is already stamped, addressed and labelled with participant ID code).

Verify encoding of instructions and repeat if necessary

#### Part 3 (Long-term, Event-based)

TIME OF TARGET EVENT:	(i.e., approximate time expected to return home)		
SUBJECT'S RESPONSE:			
	TIME:		
<u>Part 4 (Long-term, Time-based)</u>			
TIME OF TARGET EVENT:	(i.e., date one week from assessment session)		
SUBJECT'S RESPONSE:			
	DATE:		
Comments:			

Appendix F: Trail Making Test



(Continued on next page)



(Continued on next page)



(Continued on next page)

